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Otter Tail Corporation  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007  

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements of Otter Tail Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the Company) include the accounts of the 
following segments: Electric, Plastics, Manufacturing, Health Services, Food Ingredient Processing and Other Business Operations. See note 2 
to the consolidated financial statements for further descriptions of the Company’s business segments. All significant intercompany balances 
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation except profits on sales to the regulated electric utility company from nonregulated 
affiliates, which is in accordance with the requirements of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification 
(ASC) 980, Regulated Operations, (ASC 980).  

Regulation and ASC 980  

The Company’s regulated electric utility company, Otter Tail Power Company (OTP), accounts for the financial effects of regulation in 
accordance with ASC 980. This standard allows for the recording of a regulatory asset or liability for costs that will be collected or refunded 
through the ratemaking process in the future. In accordance with regulatory treatment, OTP defers utility debt redemption premiums and 
amortizes such costs over the original life of the reacquired bonds. See note 4 for further discussion.  

OTP is subject to various state and federal agency regulations. The accounting policies followed by this business are subject to the Uniform 
System of Accounts of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). These accounting policies differ in some respects from those used 
by the Company’s nonelectric businesses.  

Plant, Retirements and Depreciation  

Utility plant is stated at original cost. The cost of additions includes contracted work, direct labor and materials, allocable overheads and 
allowance for funds used during construction. The amount of interest capitalized on electric utility plant was $1,036,000 in 2009, $1,692,000 in 
2008 and $2,276,000 in 2007. The cost of depreciable units of property retired less salvage is charged to accumulated depreciation. Removal 
costs, when incurred, are charged against the accumulated reserve for estimated removal costs, a regulatory liability. Maintenance, repairs and 
replacement of minor items of property are charged to operating expenses. The provisions for utility depreciation for financial reporting 
purposes are made on the straight-line method based on the estimated service lives of the properties. Such provisions as a percent of the 
average balance of depreciable electric utility property were 2.90% in 2009, 2.81% in 2008 and 2.78% in 2007. Gains or losses on group asset 
dispositions are taken to the accumulated provision for depreciation reserve and impact current and future depreciation rates.  

Property and equipment of nonelectric operations are carried at historical cost or at the then-current replacement cost if acquired in a business 
combination accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated 
useful lives (3 to 40 years). The cost of additions includes contracted work, direct labor and materials, allocable overheads and capitalized 
interest. The amount of interest capitalized on nonelectric plant was $200,000 in 2009, $465,000 in 2008 and $390,000 in 2007. Maintenance 
and repairs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses on asset dispositions are included in the determination of operating income.  

Jointly Owned Plants  

The consolidated balance sheets include OTP’s ownership interests in the assets and liabilities of Big Stone Plant (53.9%) and Coyote Station 
(35.0%). The following amounts are included in the December 31, 2009 and 2008 consolidated balance sheets:  

The Company’s share of direct revenue and expenses of the jointly owned plants is included in operating revenue and expenses in the 
consolidated statements of income.  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Big Stone Plant:                  
Electric Plant in Service    $ 135,500     $ 135,623   
Accumulated Depreciation      (78,306 )     (74,416 ) 

  

Net Plant    $ 57,194     $ 61,207   
  

Coyote Station:                  
Electric Plant in Service    $ 155,417     $ 148,109   
Accumulated Depreciation      (87,269 )     (86,911 ) 

  

Net Plant    $ 68,148     $ 61,198   
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Recoverability of Long-Lived Assets  

The Company reviews its long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be 
recoverable. The Company determines potential impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the assets with net cash flows expected to be 
provided by operating activities of the business or related assets. If the sum of the expected future net cash flows is less than the carrying 
amount of the assets, the Company would recognize an impairment loss. Such an impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which 
the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset, where fair value is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be generated by the 
asset.  

Income Taxes  

Comprehensive interperiod income tax allocation is used for substantially all book and tax temporary differences. Deferred income taxes arise 
for all temporary differences between the book and tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are recorded using the tax rates scheduled 
by tax law to be in effect in the periods when the temporary differences reverse. The Company amortizes investment tax credits over the 
estimated lives of related property. The Company records income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, and has recognized in its 
consolidated financial statements the tax effects of all tax positions that are “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained on audit based solely on the 
technical merits of those positions as of the balance sheet date. The term “more-likely-than-not” means a likelihood of more than 50%. The 
Company classifies interest and penalties on tax uncertainties as components of the provision for income taxes. See note 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements regarding the Company’s accounting for uncertain tax positions.  

Revenue Recognition  

Due to the diverse business operations of the Company, revenue recognition depends on the product produced and sold or service performed. 
The Company recognizes revenue when the earnings process is complete, evidenced by an agreement with the customer, there has been 
delivery and acceptance, and the price is fixed or determinable. In cases where significant obligations remain after delivery, revenue 
recognition is deferred until such obligations are fulfilled. Provisions for sales returns and warranty costs are recorded at the time of the sale 
based on historical information and current trends. In the case of derivative instruments, such as OTP’s forward energy contracts, marked-to-
market and realized gains and losses are recognized on a net basis in revenue in accordance with ASC 815-10-45-9. Gains and losses on 
forward energy contracts subject to regulatory treatment, if any, are deferred and recognized on a net basis in revenue in the period realized.  

For the Company’s operating companies recognizing revenue on certain products when shipped, those operating companies have no further 
obligation to provide services related to such product. The shipping terms used in these instances are FOB shipping point.  

Customer electricity use is metered and bills are rendered monthly. Revenue is accrued for electricity consumed but not yet billed. Rate 
schedules applicable to substantially all customers include a fuel clause adjustment (FCA), under which the rates are adjusted to reflect changes 
in average cost of fuels and purchased power, and a surcharge for recovery of conservation-related expenses. Revenue is accrued for fuel and 
purchased power costs incurred in excess of amounts recovered in base rates but not yet billed through the FCA and for renewable resource 
incurred costs and investment returns approved for recovery through riders.  

Revenues on wholesale electricity sales from Company-owned generating units are recognized when energy is delivered.  

The Company’s unrealized gains and losses on forward energy contracts that do not meet the definition of capacity contracts are marked to 
market and reflected on a net basis in electric revenue on the Company’s consolidated statement of income. Under ASC 815, Derivatives and 
Hedging , the Company’s forward energy contracts that do not meet the definition of a capacity contract and are subject to unplanned netting 
do not qualify for the normal purchase and sales exception from mark-to-market accounting. The Company is required to mark to market these 
forward energy contracts and recognize changes in the fair value of these contracts as components of income over the life of the contracts. See 
note 5 for further discussion.  

Plastics operating revenues are recorded when the product is shipped.  

Manufacturing operating revenues are recorded when products are shipped and on a percentage-of-completion basis for construction type 
contracts.  

Health Services operating revenues on major equipment and installation contracts are recorded when the equipment is delivered or when 
installation is completed and accepted. Amounts received in advance under customer service contracts are deferred and recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the contract period. Revenues generated in the imaging operations are recorded on a fee-per-scan basis when the scan is 
performed.  
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Food Ingredient Processing revenues are recorded when the product is shipped.  

Other Business Operations operating revenues are recorded when services are rendered or products are shipped. In the case of construction 
contracts, the percentage-of-completion method is used.  

Some of the operating businesses enter into fixed-price construction contracts. Revenues under these contracts are recognized on a percentage-
of-completion basis. The Company’s consolidated revenues recorded under the percentage-of-completion method were 27.6% in 2009, 33.5% 
in 2008 and 30.1% in 2007. The method used to determine the progress of completion is based on the ratio of labor costs incurred to total 
estimated labor costs at the Company’s wind tower manufacturer, square footage completed to total bid square footage for certain floating dock 
projects and costs incurred to total estimated costs on all other construction projects. If a loss is indicated at a point in time during a contract, a 
projected loss for the entire contract is estimated and recognized. The following table summarizes costs incurred and billings and estimated 
earnings recognized on uncompleted contracts:  

The following costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings are included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. Billings in excess 
of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts are included in Accounts Payable.  

Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings at DMI Industries, Inc. (DMI), the Company’s wind tower manufacturer, were $54,977,000 
as of December 31, 2009 and $59,300,000 as of December 31, 2008. This amount is related to costs incurred on wind towers in the process of 
completion on major contracts under which the customer is not billed until towers are completed and ready for shipment.  

Retainage  

Accounts Receivable include amounts billed by the Company’s subsidiaries under long-term contracts that have been retained by customers 
pending project completion of $9,215,000 on December 31, 2009 and $10,311,000 on December 31, 2008.  

Sales of Receivables  

DMI has a three-year, $40 million receivables purchase agreement whereby designated customer accounts receivable may be sold to General 
Electric Capital Corporation on a revolving basis. The agreement expires in March 2011. Accounts receivable sold totaled $133,900,000 in 
2009 and $132,911,000 in 2008. Discounts and commissions and fees charged to operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income 
were $430,000 in 2009 and $722,000 in 2008. In compliance with guidance under ASC 860-20, Sales of Financial Assets , sales of accounts 
receivable are reflected as a reduction of accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets and the proceeds are included in the cash flows 
from operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.  

Marketing and Sales Incentive Costs  

ShoreMaster, Inc. (ShoreMaster), the Company’s waterfront equipment manufacturer, provides dealer floor plan financing assistance for 
certain dealer purchases of ShoreMaster products for certain set time periods based on the timing and size of a dealer’s order. ShoreMaster 
recognizes the estimated cost of projected interest payments related to each financed sale as a liability and a reduction of revenue at the time of 
sale, based on historical experience of the average length of time floor plan debt is outstanding, in accordance with guidance under ASC 605-
50, Customer Payments and Incentives . The liability is reduced when interest is paid. To the extent current experience differs from previous 
estimates the accrued liability for financing assistance costs is adjusted accordingly. Financing assistance costs charged to revenue were 
$131,000 in 2009 and $500,000 in 2008.  
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    December 31,     December 31,   
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Costs Incurred on Uncompleted Contracts    $ 400,577     $ 377,237   
Less Billings to Date      (400,711 )     (366,931 ) 
Plus Estimated Earnings Recognized      59,202       47,355   
  

     $ 59,068     $ 57,661   
  

                  
    December 31,     December 31,   
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings on Uncompleted Contracts    $ 61,835     $ 65,606   
Billings in Excess of Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts      (2,767 )     (7,945 ) 
  

     $ 59,068     $ 57,661   
  

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 2 of 2 
Page 298 of 7002



Table of Contents  

Foreign Currency Translation  

The functional currency for the operations of the Canadian subsidiary of Idaho Pacific Holdings, Inc. (IPH) is the Canadian dollar (CAD). This 
subsidiary realizes foreign currency transaction gains or losses on settlement of receivables related to its sales, which are mostly in U.S. dollars 
(USD), and on exchanging U.S. currency for Canadian currency for its Canadian operations. This subsidiary recorded foreign currency 
transaction losses of $337,000 USD in 2009 as a result of a decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in 2009, 
foreign currency transaction losses of $60,000 USD in 2008 as a result of a decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. 
dollar in 2008 and foreign currency transaction losses of $656,000 USD in 2007 as a result of an increase in the value of the Canadian dollar 
relative to the U.S. dollar in 2007. The translation of CAD to USD is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the 
balance sheet dates—except for the common equity accounts which are at historical rates—and for revenue and expense accounts using a 
weighted average exchange during the year. Gains or losses resulting from the translation are included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Loss in the equity section of the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.  

The functional currency for the Canadian subsidiary of DMI is the U.S. dollar. There are no foreign currency translation gains or losses related 
to this entity. However, this subsidiary may realize foreign currency transaction gains or losses on settlement of liabilities related to goods or 
services purchased in CAD. Foreign currency transaction gains related to balance sheet adjustments of CAD liabilities to USD equivalents and 
realized gains on settlement of those liabilities were $77,000 USD in 2009 and $399,000 USD in 2008 as a result of decreases in the value of 
the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in 2009 and 2008. Foreign currency transaction losses related to balance sheet adjustments of 
CAD liabilities to USD equivalents and realized losses on settlement of those liabilities were $102,000 USD in 2007 as a result of an increase 
in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in 2007.  

Shipping and Handling Costs  

The Company includes revenues received for shipping and handling in operating revenues. Expenses paid for shipping and handling are 
recorded as part of cost of goods sold.  

Use of Estimates  

The Company uses estimates based on the best information available in recording transactions and balances resulting from business operations. 
Estimates are used for such items as depreciable lives, asset impairment evaluations, tax provisions, collectability of trade accounts receivable, 
self-insurance programs, unbilled electric revenues, accrued renewable resource and transmission rider revenues, valuations of forward energy 
contracts, service contract maintenance costs, percentage-of-completion and actuarially determined benefits costs and liabilities. As better 
information becomes available (or actual amounts are known), the recorded estimates are revised. Consequently, operating results can be 
affected by revisions to prior accounting estimates.  

Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents.  

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information  

Investments  

The following table provides a breakdown of the Company’s investments at December 31, 2009 and 2008:  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008     2007   
  

(Decreases) Increases in Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities Related to Capital 
Expenditures    $ (3,832 )   $ (22,729 )   $ 23,514   

  

Noncash Investing and Financing Transactions:                          
Capital Leases      —    $ 2,084       —  

  

Cash Paid During the Year for:                          
Interest (net of amount capitalized)    $ 23,563     $ 25,032     $ 18,155   
Income Tax (Refunds) Payments    $ (27,412 )   $ 1,356     $ 25,906   

  

                  
    December 31,     December 31,   
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Cost Method:                  
Economic Development Loan Pools    $ 482     $ 528   
Other      334       1,057   

Equity Method:                  
Affordable Housing and Other Partnerships      1,025       1,441   

Marketable Securities Classified as Available-for-Sale      8,048       4,516   
  

Total Investments    $ 9,889     $ 7,542   
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The Company has investments in eleven limited partnerships that invest in tax-credit-qualifying affordable-housing projects that provided tax 
credits of $25,000 in 2009, $55,000 in 2008 and $285,000 in 2007. The Company owns a majority interest in eight of the eleven limited 
partnerships with a total investment of $1,009,000. ASC 810, Consolidation, requires full consolidation of the majority-owned partnerships. 
However, the Company includes these entities on its consolidated financial statements on a declining balance basis due to immateriality and 
uncertainty regarding residual values. Consolidating these entities would have represented 0.4% of total assets, 0.1% of total revenues and 
(0.9%) of operating income for the Company as of, and for the year ended, December 31, 2009 and would have an insignificant impact on the 
Company’s 2009 consolidated net income.  

The Company’s marketable securities classified as available-for-sale are held for insurance purposes and are reflected at their market values on 
December 31, 2009. See further discussion below and under note 13.  

Fair Value Measurements  
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , for recurring fair value measurements. 
ASC 820 provides a single definition of fair value and requires enhanced disclosures about assets and liabilities measured at fair value. ASC 
820-10-35 establishes a hierarchal framework for disclosing the observability of the inputs utilized in measuring assets and liabilities at fair 
value. The three levels defined by the hierarchy and examples of each level are as follows:  

Level 1 — Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reported date. The types of assets and 
liabilities included in Level 1 are highly liquid and actively traded instruments with quoted prices, such as equities listed by the New York 
Stock Exchange and commodity derivative contracts listed on the New York Mercantile Exchange.  

Level 2 — Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, but are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date. 
The types of assets and liabilities included in Level 2 are typically either comparable to actively traded securities or contracts, such as treasury 
securities with pricing interpolated from recent trades of similar securities, or priced with models using highly observable inputs, such as 
commodity options priced using observable forward prices and volatilities.  

Level 3 — Significant inputs to pricing have little or no observability as of the reporting date. The types of assets and liabilities included in 
Level 3 are those with inputs requiring significant management judgment or estimation and may include complex and subjective models and 
forecasts.  

The following table presents, for each of these hierarchy levels, the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:  
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2009 (in thousands)   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3   
  

Assets:                          
Investments for Nonqualified Retirement Savings Retirement Plan:                          

Money Market and Mutual Funds and Cash    $ 731     $ —          
Forward Energy Contracts              8,321           
Investments of Captive Insurance Company:                          

Corporate Debt Securities      7,795                   
U.S. Government Debt Securities      253                   

  

Total Assets    $ 8,779     $ 8,321           
  

Liabilities:                          
Forward Energy Contracts    $ —    $ 14,681           

  

Total Liabilities    $ —    $ 14,681           
  

Net Assets (Liabilities)    $ 8,779     $ (6,360 )         
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Inventories  

The Electric segment inventories are reported at average cost. All other segments’ inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) 
or market. Inventories consist of the following:  

Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with the requirements of ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and 
Other, requiring goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets to be measured for impairment at least annually and more often when events 
indicate the assets may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives and reviewed for 
impairment in accordance with requirements under ASC 360-10-35, Property, Plant, and Equipment—Overall—Subsequent Measurement .  

The Company recorded no changes in the carrying amount of Goodwill in 2009:  
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2008 (in thousands)   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3   
  

Assets:                          
Investments for Nonqualified Retirement Savings Retirement Plan:                          

Money Market and Mutual Funds and Cash    $ 890     $ —          
Forward Energy Contracts              405           
Investments of Captive Insurance Company:                          

Corporate Debt Securities      3,569                   
U.S. Government Debt Securities      947                   

  

Total Assets    $ 5,406     $ 405           
  

Liabilities:                          
Forward Energy Contracts    $ —    $ 1,690           
Forward Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts    289                   

  

Total Liabilities    $ 289     $ 1,690           
  

Net Assets (Liabilities)    $ 5,117     $ (1,285 )         
  

                  
    December 31,     December 31,   
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Finished Goods    $ 42,784     $ 38,943   
Work in Process      3,824       10,205   
Raw Material, Fuel and Supplies      39,907       52,807   
  

Total Inventories    $ 86,515     $ 101,955   
  

                                  
    Balance December 31,     Adjustment     Goodwill Acquired     Balance December 31,   
(in thousands)   2008     to Goodwill in 2009     in 2009     2009   
  

Plastics    $ 19,302     $ —    $ —    $ 19,302   
Manufacturing      24,732       —      —      24,732   
Health Services      23,878       —      —      23,878   
Food Ingredient Processing      24,324       —      —      24,324   
Other Business Operations      14,542       —      —      14,542   
  

Total    $ 106,778     $ —    $ —    $ 106,778   
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The following table summarizes components of the Company’s intangible assets as of December 31:  

The amortization expense for these intangible assets was $1,656,000 for 2009, $1,464,000 for 2008 and $1,227,000 for 2007. The estimated 
annual amortization expense for these intangible assets for the next five years is $1,461,000 for 2010, $1,332,000 for 2011, $1,312,000 for 
2012, $1,308,000 for 2013 and $1,308,000 for 2014.  

New Accounting Standards  

Business Combinations— In December 2007, the FASB issued new guidance on business combinations that applies prospectively to business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 
2008. The new guidance, under ASC 805, Business Combinations, applies to all transactions or other events in which an entity (the acquirer) 
obtains control of one or more businesses (the acquiree). In addition to replacing the term “purchase method of accounting” with “acquisition 
method of accounting,” ASC 805 requires an acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in 
the acquiree at the acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that date, with limited exceptions. This guidance replaces previous 
guidance on the cost-allocation process, which required the cost of an acquisition to be allocated to the individual assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed based on their estimated fair values. The new guidance results in not recognizing some assets and liabilities at the acquisition date, and 
it also results in measuring some assets and liabilities at amounts other than their fair values at the acquisition date. For example, prior guidance 
required the acquirer to include the costs incurred to effect an acquisition (acquisition-related costs) in the cost of the acquisition that is 
allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The new guidance requires those costs to be expensed as incurred. In addition, 
under previous guidance, restructuring costs that the acquirer expected but was not obligated to incur were recognized as if they were a liability 
assumed at the acquisition date. The new guidance requires the acquirer to recognize those costs separately from the business combination. The 
Company adopted the new guidance on business combinations on January 1, 2009. The adoption did not have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.  

Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities— In March 2008, the FASB issued new guidance on disclosures about 
derivative instruments and hedging activities. The new guidance under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, requires enhanced disclosures 
about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities to improve the transparency of financial reporting and is effective for financial statements 
issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company adopted the new guidance on January 1, 2009. 
Adoption of the new guidance resulted in additional footnote disclosures related to the Company’s use of derivative instruments, the location 
and fair value of derivatives reported on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, the location and amounts of derivative instrument gains 
and losses reported on the Company’s consolidated statements of income and information on credit risk exposure related to derivative 
instruments.  

Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets— In December 2008, the FASB issued new guidance on Employers’ 
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits. The new guidance under ASC 715-20 Defined Benefit Plans—General, expands 
an employer’s required disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan to include investment policies 
and strategies, major categories of plan assets, information regarding fair value measurements, and significant concentrations of credit risk. The 
new guidance is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. (See note 12 to consolidated financial statements.)  
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    Gross Carrying     Accumulated     Net Carrying     Amortization   
(in thousands)   Amount     Amortization     Amount     Periods   
  |  | | | 

2009                                  
Amortized Intangible Assets:                                  

Covenants Not to Compete    $ 2,190     $ 2,047     $ 143     3 — 5 years 
Customer Relationships      26,956       3,696       23,260     15 — 25 years 
Other Intangible Assets Including Contracts      2,358       1,757       601     5 — 30 years 

  

Total    $ 31,504     $ 7,500     $ 24,004           
  

Nonamortized Intangible Assets:                                  
Brand/Trade Name    $ 9,883     $ —    $ 9,883           

  

2008                                  
Amortized Intangible Assets:                                  

Covenants Not to Compete    $ 2,250     $ 1,889     $ 361     3 — 5 years 
Customer Relationships      26,854       2,429       24,425     15 — 25 years 
Other Intangible Assets Including Contracts      2,710       1,921       789     5 — 30 years 

  

Total    $ 31,814     $ 6,239     $ 25,575           
  

Nonamortized Intangible Assets:                                  
Brand/Trade Name    $ 9,866     $ —    $ 9,866           
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Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments— In April 2009, the FASB issued new guidance on disclosures about fair 
value of financial instruments to require disclosures regarding the fair value of financial instruments in interim financial statements. The new 
disclosure requirements under ASC 825, Financial Instruments, are effective for interim periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company 
implemented the new guidance on April 1, 2009. The implementation did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. ASC 825 required disclosures have been included in the Company’s notes to consolidated financial statements, where applicable.  

Subsequent Events— In May 2009, the FASB issued new guidance regarding subsequent events. The new guidance under ASC 855, 
Subsequent Events, establishes general standards of accounting and disclosure for events that occur after the balance sheet date but before 
financial statements are issued. The new accounting guidance is consistent with the auditing literature widely used for accounting and 
disclosure of subsequent events, however, the new guidance requires an entity to disclose the date through which subsequent events have been 
evaluated. The new guidance is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company implemented the new 
guidance on April 1, 2009. The implementation did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The 
Company has evaluated events occurring through February 26, 2010 and determined there are no events that have occurred subsequent to 
December 31, 2009 that would affect the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of, and for the periods ending December 31, 2009, or 
that require additional disclosure in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

SFAS No. 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), was issued by the FASB in June 2009. SFAS No. 167 amends the 
consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities. The amendments will significantly affect various elements of consolidation 
guidance under FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), including guidance for determining whether an entity is a variable interest entity and whether 
an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity. SFAS No. 167 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 
2009. The Company does not expect the implementation of SFAS No. 167 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
SFAS No. 167 will remain authoritative until it is integrated into the ASC.  
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2. Business Combinations, Dispositions and Segment Information  

There were no acquisitions or dispositions of businesses in 2009.  

On May 1, 2008 BTD Manufacturing, Inc. (BTD), acquired the assets of Miller Welding & Ironworks, Inc. (Miller Welding) of Washington, 
Illinois for $41.7 million in cash. Miller Welding, a custom job shop fabricator and finisher, recorded $26 million in revenue in 2007. Miller 
Welding manufactures and fabricates parts for off-road equipment, mining machinery, oil fields and offshore oil rigs, wind industry 
components, broadcast antennae and farm equipment, and serves several major equipment manufacturers in the Peoria, Illinois area and 
nationwide, including Caterpillar, Komatsu and Gardner Denver. This acquisition will provide opportunities for growth in new and existing 
markets for both BTD and Miller Welding, and complementing production capabilities will expand the scope and capacity of services offered 
by both companies.  

Below is condensed balance sheet information, at the date of the business combination, disclosing the allocation of the purchase price assigned 
to each major asset and liability category of Miller Welding:  

Other Intangible Assets related to the Miller Welding acquisition include $16,100,000 for Customer Relationships being amortized over 
20 years, $400,000 for a Nonamortizable Trade Name and a $100,000 Covenant Not to Compete being amortized over three years.  

On February 19, 2007 ShoreMaster acquired the assets of the Aviva Sports product line for $2.0 million in cash. The Aviva Sports product line 
operates under Aviva Sports, Inc. (Aviva), a newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of ShoreMaster. The Aviva Sports product line is sold 
internationally and consists of products for consumer use in the pool, lake and yard, as well as commercial use at summer camps, resorts and 
large public swimming pools. The acquisition of the Aviva Sports product line fits well with the other product lines of ShoreMaster, a leading 
manufacturer and supplier of waterfront equipment.  

On May 15, 2007 BTD acquired the assets of Pro Engineering, LLC (Pro Engineering) for $4.8 million in cash. Pro Engineering specializes in 
providing metal parts stampings to customers in the Midwest. The acquisition of Pro Engineering by BTD provides expanded growth 
opportunities for both companies.  

Below, are condensed balance sheets, at the dates of the respective business combinations, disclosing the allocation of the purchase price 
assigned to each major asset and liability category of Aviva and Pro Engineering:  
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(in thousands)         
  

Assets          
Current Assets    $ 8,855   
Goodwill      7,986   
Other Intangible Assets      16,600   
Fixed Assets      8,994   

  

Total Assets    $ 42,435   
  

Liabilities          
Current Liabilities    $ 761   
Noncurrent Liabilities      —  

  

Total Liabilities    $ 761   
  

Cash Paid    $ 41,674   
  

                  
            Pro   
(in thousands)   Aviva     Engineering   
  

Assets                  
Current Assets    $ 2,083     $ 1,956   
Goodwill      —      1,048   
Other Intangible Assets      870       396   
Plant      —      1,600   

  

Total Assets    $ 2,953     $ 5,000   
  

Liabilities                  
Current Liabilities    $ 988     $ 215   
Noncurrent Liabilities      —      —  

  

Total Liabilities    $ 988     $ 215   
  

Cash Paid    $ 1,965     $ 4,785   
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Other Intangible Assets related to the Aviva acquisition include $83,000 for a nonamortizable brand name and $787,000 in intangible assets 
being amortized over various periods up to 15 years. Other Intangible Assets related to the Pro Engineering acquisition include $51,000 for a 
nonamortizable brand name and $345,000 in intangible assets being amortized over various periods up to 20 years.  

All of the acquisitions described above were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Disclosure of pro forma information 
related to the results of operations of the entities acquired in 2008 and 2007 for the periods presented in this report is not required due to 
immateriality.  

Segment Information  

The accounting policies of the segments are described under note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The Company’s 
businesses have been classified into six segments based on products and services and reach customers in all 50 states and international markets. 
The six segments are: Electric, Plastics, Manufacturing, Health Services, Food Ingredient Processing and Other Business Operations.  

Electric includes the production, transmission, distribution and sale of electric energy in Minnesota, North Dakota and South Dakota by OTP. 
In addition, OTP is an active wholesale participant in the Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator (MISO) markets. OTP’s 
operations have been the Company’s primary business since 1907.  

Plastics consists of businesses producing polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe in the Upper Midwest and Southwest regions of the United States.  

Manufacturing consists of businesses in the following manufacturing activities: production of wind towers, contract machining, metal parts 
stamping and fabrication, and production of waterfront equipment, material and handling trays and horticultural containers. These businesses 
have manufacturing facilities in Florida, Illinois, Minnesota, Missouri, North Dakota, Oklahoma and Ontario, Canada and sell products 
primarily in the United States.  

Health Services consists of businesses involved in the sale of diagnostic medical equipment, patient monitoring equipment and related supplies 
and accessories. These businesses also provide equipment maintenance, diagnostic imaging services and rental of diagnostic medical imaging 
equipment to various medical institutions located throughout the United States.  

Food Ingredient Processing consists of IPH, which owns and operates potato dehydration plants in Ririe, Idaho; Center, Colorado; and Souris, 
Prince Edward Island, Canada. IPH produces dehydrated potato products that are sold in the United States, Canada and other countries.  

Other Business Operations consists of businesses in residential, commercial and industrial electric contracting industries, fiber optic and 
electric distribution systems, water, wastewater and HVAC systems construction, transportation and energy services. These businesses operate 
primarily in the Central United States, except for the transportation company which operates in 48 states and four Canadian provinces.  

The Company’s electric operations, including wholesale power sales, are operated by its wholly owned subsidiary, OTP, and its energy 
services operation is operated by a separate wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. All of the Company’s other businesses are owned by its 
wholly owned subsidiary, Varistar Corporation (Varistar).  

Corporate includes items such as corporate staff and overhead costs, the results of the Company’s captive insurance company and other items 
excluded from the measurement of operating segment performance. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash, prepaid expenses, investments 
and fixed assets. Corporate is not an operating segment. Rather, it is added to operating segment totals to reconcile to totals on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  

The Company has one customer within the manufacturing segment that accounted for 13.6% of the Company’s consolidated revenues in 2009. 
No other single external customer accounts for 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated revenues. Substantially all of the Company’s long-
lived assets are within the United States except for a food ingredient processing dehydration plant in Souris, Prince Edward Island, Canada and 
a wind tower manufacturing plant in Fort Erie, Ontario, Canada.  
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Percent of Sales Revenue by Country for the Year Ended December 31:   2009   2008   2007 
  

United States of America      97.8 %     97.3 %     96.9 % 
Canada      0.8 %     1.1 %     1.3 % 
All Other Countries      1.4 %     1.6 %     1.8 % 
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The Company evaluates the performance of its business segments and allocates resources to them based on earnings contribution and return on 
total invested capital. Information on continuing operations for the business segments for 2009, 2008 and 2007 is presented in the following 
table.  
                          
(in thousands)   2009     2008     2007   
  

Operating Revenue                          
Electric    $ 314,625     $ 340,020     $ 323,478   
Plastics      80,208       116,452       149,012   
Manufacturing      323,895       470,462       381,599   
Health Services      110,006       122,520       130,670   
Food Ingredient Processing      79,098       65,367       70,440   
Other Business Operations      136,088       199,511       185,730   
Corporate and Intersegment Eliminations      (4,408 )     (3,135 )     (2,042 ) 

  

Total    $ 1,039,512     $ 1,311,197     $ 1,238,887   
  

Depreciation and Amortization                          
Electric    $ 36,946     $ 31,755     $ 26,097   
Plastics      2,945       3,050       3,083   
Manufacturing      22,530       19,260       13,124   
Health Services      3,907       4,133       3,937   
Food Ingredient Processing      4,333       4,094       3,952   
Other Business Operations      2,550       2,230       2,058   
Corporate      397       538       579   

  

Total    $ 73,608     $ 65,060     $ 52,830   
  

Interest Charges                          
Electric    $ 19,414     $ 12,895     $ 9,405   
Plastics      811       1,156       970   
Manufacturing      5,724       8,666       8,546   
Health Services      448       714       883   
Food Ingredient Processing      36       109       177   
Other Business Operations      509       1,171       1,234   
Corporate and Intersegment Eliminations      1,572       2,247       (358 ) 

  

Total    $ 28,514     $ 26,958     $ 20,857   
  

Income Before Income Taxes                          
Electric    $ 34,725     $ 46,160     $ 37,422   
Plastics      (126 )     3,114       13,452   
Manufacturing      (4,331 )     7,650       24,503   
Health Services      (3,210 )     342       2,626   
Food Ingredient Processing      11,817       2,655       5,912   
Other Business Operations      (3,194 )     8,736       6,762   
Corporate      (14,255 )     (18,495 )     (8,748 ) 

  

Total    $ 21,426     $ 50,162     $ 81,929   
  

Earnings Available for Common Shares                          
Electric    $ 33,711     $ 32,498     $ 23,762   
Plastics      (59 )     1,880       8,314   
Manufacturing      (2,025 )     5,269       15,632   
Health Services      (2,096 )     85       1,427   
Food Ingredient Processing      7,407       1,681       4,386   
Other Business Operations      (1,891 )     5,279       4,049   
Corporate      (9,752 )     (12,303 )     (4,345 ) 

  

Total    $ 25,295     $ 34,389     $ 53,225   
  

Capital Expenditures                          
Electric    $ 145,787     $ 198,798     $ 104,288   
Plastics      4,269       8,883       3,305   
Manufacturing      18,702       47,606       42,786   
Health Services      3,439       4,039       5,276   
Food Ingredient Processing      686       2,402       47   
Other Business Operations      3,678       3,919       5,589   
Corporate      564       241       694   

  

Total    $ 177,125     $ 265,888     $ 161,985   
  

Identifiable Assets                          
Electric    $ 1,119,822     $ 992,159     $ 813,565   
Plastics      70,380       78,054       77,971   
Manufacturing      306,011       356,697       274,780   
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Health Services      58,164       61,086       64,824   
Food Ingredient Processing      88,478       88,813       91,966   
Other Business Operations      59,915       71,359       72,258   
Corporate      51,908       44,419       59,390   

  

Total    $ 1,754,678     $ 1,692,587     $ 1,454,754   
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3. Rate and Regulatory Matters  

Minnesota  

General Rate Case —In an order issued by the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission (MPUC) on August 1, 2008 OTP was granted an 
increase in Minnesota retail electric rates of $3.8 million, or approximately 2.9%, which went into effect in February 2009. The MPUC 
approved a rate of return on equity of 10.43% on a capital structure with 50.0% equity. An interim rate increase of 5.4% was in effect from 
November 30, 2007 through January 31, 2009. Amounts refundable totaling $3.9 million had been recorded as a liability on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008. An additional $0.5 million refund liability was accrued in January 2009. OTP refunded 
Minnesota customers the difference between interim and final rates, with interest, in March 2009. In June 2008, OTP deferred recognition of 
$1.5 million in rate case-related regulatory assessments and fees of outside experts and attorneys that are subject to amortization and recovery 
over a three-year period beginning in February 2009.  

Capacity Expansion 2020 (CapX 2020) Mega Certificate of Need (CON) —On August 16, 2007 the eleven CapX 2020 utilities asked the 
MPUC to determine the need for three 345-kilovolt (kV) transmission lines. Evidentiary hearings for the CON for the three CapX 2020 345-kV 
transmission line projects began in July 2008 and continued into August 2008. On April 16, 2009 the MPUC approved the CON for the three 
345-kV Group 1 CapX 2020 line projects (Fargo-St. Cloud, Brookings-Southeast Twin Cities, and Twin Cities-LaCrosse). The MPUC then 
voted to impose conditions pertaining to reserving line capacity for renewable energy sources on the Brookings line project. The MPUC did 
take up reconsideration of the original order regarding the conditions. The MPUC slightly modified the conditions on the Brookings line. As 
part of the CON approval, the MPUC accepted a CapX 2020 request to build the 345-kV lines for double-circuit capability to have two 345-kV 
transmission circuits on each structure. The current plan is to string only one circuit. The MPUC CON orders were appealed to the Minnesota 
Court of Appeals on October 9, 2009 and the appellate court’s determination is expected to be made in the fall of 2010. Route permit 
applications were filed in Minnesota for the Brookings project in late December 2008. The route permit for the Monticello to St. Cloud portion 
of the Fargo project was filed in April 2009 and is anticipated to be received in mid-2010. The Minnesota route permit for the St. Cloud to 
Fargo portion of the Fargo Project was filed on October 1, 2009. Portions of the projects would also require approvals by federal officials and 
by regulators in North Dakota, South Dakota and Wisconsin. After regulatory need is established and routing decisions are completed, 
construction will begin. The lines would be expected to be completed over a period of two to four years. Great River Energy and Xcel Energy 
are leading these projects, and OTP and eight other utilities are involved in permitting, building and financing. OTP is directly involved in two 
of these three 345-kV projects.  

OTP serves as the lead utility in a fourth CapX 2020 Group 1 project, the Bemidji-Grand Rapids 230-kV line, which has an expected in-service 
date of 2012-2013. OTP filed an application for a CON for this fourth project on March 17, 2008. The Department of Commerce Office of 
Energy Security (MNOES) staff completed briefing papers regarding the Bemidji-Grand Rapids route permit application. The MNOES staff 
recommended to the MPUC that: (1) the route permit application be found to be complete, (2) the need determination not be sent to a contested 
case but be handled informally by MPUC review, and (3) the CON and route permit proceedings be combined as requested. The MPUC met on 
June 26, 2008 to act on the MNOES staff recommendation. The MPUC agreed that the CON and route permit applications were complete. The 
MNOES subsequently recommended a determination that need for the line has been established. An environmental report for the CON was 
issued in April 2009. CON hearings were conducted on May 20 and May 21, 2009 and a summary of comments was issued on June 8, 2009. 
The CON was issued on July 9, 2009 and the written order received on July 14, 2009. The applicants continue to work with the MNOES to 
define the schedule for issuance of the draft environmental impact statement (EIS) and the route contested case hearing. The route hearing is 
expected to occur in early 2010. The MPUC is expected to determine the route for this line and, if appropriate, issue a route permit in fall 2010. 
A federal EIS also will be needed for this project.  

Renewable Energy Standards, Conservation and Renewable Resource Riders —In February 2007, the Minnesota legislature passed a 
renewable energy standard requiring OTP to generate or procure sufficient renewable generation such that the following percentages of total 
retail electric sales to Minnesota customers come from qualifying renewable sources: 12% by 2012; 17% by 2016; 20% by 2020 and 25% by 
2025. Additionally, Minnesota law requires utilities to make a good faith effort to generate or procure sufficient renewable generation such that 
7% of total retail electric sales to retail customers in Minnesota come from qualifying renewable sources by 2010. Under certain circumstances 
and after consideration of costs and reliability issues, the MPUC may modify or delay implementation of the standards. OTP has acquired 
renewable resources and expects to acquire additional renewable resources in order to maintain compliance with the Minnesota renewable 
energy standard. OTP has sufficient renewable energy resources available and in service to comply with the required 2016 level of the 
Minnesota renewable energy standard. OTP’s compliance with the Minnesota renewable energy standard will be measured through the 
Midwest Renewable Energy Tracking System.  
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Under the Next Generation Energy Act of 2007, an automatic adjustment mechanism was established to allow Minnesota electric utilities to 
recover investments and costs incurred to satisfy the requirements of the renewable energy standards. The MPUC is authorized to approve a 
rate schedule rider to enable utilities to recover the costs of qualifying renewable energy projects that supply renewable energy to Minnesota 
customers. Cost recovery for qualifying renewable energy projects can now be authorized outside of a rate case proceeding, provided that such 
renewable projects have received previous MPUC approval. Renewable resource costs eligible for recovery may include return on investment, 
depreciation, operation and maintenance costs, taxes, renewable energy delivery costs and other related expenses.  

In an order issued on August 15, 2008, the MPUC approved OTP’s proposal to implement a Renewable Resource Cost Recovery Rider for its 
Minnesota jurisdictional portion of investment in qualifying renewable energy facilities. The rider enables OTP to recover from its Minnesota 
retail customers its investments in owned renewable energy facilities and provides for a return on those investments. The Minnesota Renewable 
Resource Adjustment (MNRRA) of $0.0019 per kilowatt-hour (kwh) was included on Minnesota customers’ electric service statements 
beginning in September 2008, reflecting cost recovery for OTP’s twenty-seven 1.5 megawatt (MW) wind turbines and collector system at the 
Langdon Wind Energy Center, which became fully operational in January 2008.  

The MPUC approved OTP’s petition for a 2009 MNRRA in July 2009, which increased the MNRRA rate to provide cost recovery for its 32 
wind turbines at the Ashtabula Wind Energy Center that became commercially operational in November 2008. This approval increased the 
2009 MNRRA to $0.00415 per kwh for the recovery of $6.6 million through March 31, 2010—$4.0 million from August through 
December 2009 and $2.6 million from January through March 2010 The approval also granted OTP authority to recover over a 48-month 
period beginning in April 2010 accrued renewable resource recovery revenues that had not previously been recovered. OTP has recognized a 
regulatory asset of $5.3 million for revenues that are eligible for recovery through the rider but have not been billed to Minnesota customers as 
of December 31, 2009. On January 12, 2010, the MPUC issued an order finding OTP’s Luverne Wind Farm project eligible for cost recovery 
through the MNRRA. The 2010 annual MNRRA cost recovery filing was made on December 31, 2009 with a requested effective date of 
April 1, 2010.  

In addition to the Renewable Resource Cost Recovery Rider, the Minnesota Public Utilities Act provides a similar mechanism for automatic 
adjustment outside of a general rate proceeding to recover the costs of new transmission facilities that have been previously approved by the 
MPUC in a CON proceeding, certified by the MPUC as a Minnesota priority transmission project, made to transmit the electricity generated 
from renewable generation sources ultimately used to provide service to the utility’s retail customers, or otherwise deemed eligible by the 
MPUC. Such transmission cost recovery riders allow a return on investments at the level approved in a utility’s last general rate case. 
Additionally, following approval of the rate schedule, the MPUC may approve annual rate adjustments filed pursuant to the rate schedule. 
OTP’s request for approval of a transmission cost recovery rider was granted by the MPUC on January 7, 2010, and became effective 
February 1, 2010. Beginning February 1, 2010, OTP’s transmission rider rate is reflected on Minnesota customer electric service statements at 
$0.00039 per kwh plus $0.035 per kW for large general service customers and $0.00007 per kwh for controlled service customers, $0.00025 
per kwh for lighting customers, and $0.00057 per kwh for all other customers. As of December 31, 2009 OTP had accrued $0.4 million in 
revenues that are eligible for recovery through the rider but have not been billed.  

Recovery of MISO Costs —In an order issued on December 20, 2006 the MPUC stated that except for schedule 16 and 17 administrative costs, 
discussed below, each petitioning utility may recover the charges imposed by the MISO for MISO Day 2 operations (offset by revenues from 
Day 2 operations via net accounting) through the calculation of the utility’s FCA from the period April 1, 2005 through a period of at least 
three years after the date of the order. The MPUC also ordered the utilities to refund schedule 16 and 17 costs collected through the FCA since 
the inception of MISO Day 2 Markets in April 2005 and stated that each petitioning utility may use deferred accounting for MISO schedule 16 
and 17 costs incurred since April 1, 2005. This deferred accounting may continue for ongoing schedule 16 and 17 costs, without the 
accumulation of interest, until the earlier of March 1, 2009 or the utility’s next electric rate case. Pursuant to this December 20, 2006 order, 
OTP was ordered to refund $446,000 in MISO schedule 16 and 17 costs to Minnesota retail customers through the FCA over a twelve-month 
period beginning in January 2007. OTP requested recovery of the deferred costs and recovery of the ongoing costs in its general rate case filed 
in October 2007 and began amortizing its deferred MISO schedule 16 and 17 costs over a 35-month period in January 2008. The remaining 
unamortized balance was $252,000 as of December 31, 2009. The August 1, 2008 MPUC Order in the general rate case allowed future 
recovery of MISO schedule 16 and 17 costs and recovery of the deferred Schedule 16 and 17 costs.  
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Minnesota Annual Automatic Adjustment Report on Energy Costs (AAA Report) —The MNDOC and OTP identified two operational 
situations which are not covered in the approved method for allocating MISO costs contained in the final December 20, 2006 MPUC order 
discussed above. One relates to plants not expected to be available for retail but that produce energy in certain hours, resulting in wholesale 
sales. The other situation is related to Financial Transmission Rights (FTRs) not needed for retail load. For the period July 1, 2005 through 
June 30, 2007 OTP determined its Minnesota customers’ portion of costs associated with these situations to be $765,000. The data was 
provided to the MNDOC during the course of the MNDOC’s review of the AAA Report. OTP offered to refund $765,000 to its Minnesota 
customers to settle this and other issues raised by the MNDOC in the AAA Report docket before the MPUC and the MNDOC accepted the 
offer in October 2007 and recommended that the MPUC include the refund in its final order. OTP also agreed to modifications to the MISO 
Day 2 cost allocations that were resolved in the MPUC’s December 20, 2006 order. OTP agreed to make some of those modifications 
retroactive back to January 1, 2007. The MPUC accepted OTP’s refund offer and modifications and closed this docket on February 6, 2008. In 
December 2007, OTP recorded a liability and a reduction to revenue of $805,000 for the amount of the refund offer and similar revenues 
collected subsequent to June 30, 2007. Refunds to Minnesota customers were completed during 2008.  

North Dakota  

General Rate Case —On November 3, 2008 OTP filed a general rate case in North Dakota requesting an overall revenue increase of 
approximately $6.1 million, or 5.1%, and an interim rate increase of approximately 4.1%, or $4.8 million annualized, that went into effect on 
January 2, 2009. In an order issued by the North Dakota Public Service Commission (NDPSC) on November 25, 2009 OTP was granted an 
increase in North Dakota retail electric rates of $3.6 million or approximately 3.0%, which went into effect in December 2009. The NDPSC 
order authorizing an interim rate increase requires OTP to refund North Dakota customers the difference between final and interim rates, with 
interest. OTP established a refund reserve for revenues collected under interim rates that exceeded the final rate increase. The refund reserve 
balance was $0.9 million as of December 31, 2009, which will be refunded to North Dakota customers in January 2010. OTP deferred 
recognition of $0.5 million in rate case-related filing and administrative costs that are subject to amortization and recovery over a three year 
period beginning in January 2010.  

Renewable Resource Cost Recovery Rider —On May 21, 2008 the NDPSC approved OTP’s request for a Renewable Resource Cost Recovery 
Rider to enable OTP to recover the North Dakota share of its investments in renewable energy facilities it owns in North Dakota. The North 
Dakota Renewable Resource Cost Recovery Rider Adjustment (NDRRA) of $0.00193 per kwh was included on North Dakota customers’ 
electric service statements beginning in June 2008, and reflects cost recovery for OTP’s twenty-seven 1.5 MW wind turbines and collector 
system at the Langdon Wind Energy Center, which became fully operational in January 2008. The rider also allows OTP to recover costs 
associated with other new renewable energy projects as they are completed. OTP included investment costs and expenses related to its 32 wind 
turbines at the Ashtabula Wind Energy Center that became commercially operational in November 2008 in its 2009 annual request to the 
NDPSC to increase the amount of the NDRRA. An NDRRA of $0.0051 per kwh was approved by the NDPSC on January 14, 2009 and went 
into effect beginning with billing statements sent on February 1, 2009.  

In a proceeding that was combined with OTP’s general rate case, the NDPSC reviewed whether to move the costs of the projects currently 
being recovered through the NDRRA into base rate cost recovery and whether to make changes to the rider. A settlement of the general rate 
case and the NDRRA reduced the NDRRA to $0.00369 for the period from December 1, 2009 until the effective date for the next annual 
NDRRA filing, requested to be April 1, 2010. Because the 2008 annual NDRRA filing was combined with the general rate case proceedings 
(concluded in November 2009), the 2009 annual filing to establish the 2010 NDRRA rate (which includes cost recovery for OTP’s investment 
in its Luverne Wind Farm project) was delayed until December 31, 2009, with a requested effective date of April 1, 2010.  

OTP had not been deferring recognition of its renewable resource costs eligible for recovery under the NDRRA but had been charging those 
costs to operating expense since January 2008. After approval of the rider in May 2008, OTP accrued revenues related to its investment in 
renewable energy and for renewable energy costs incurred since January 2008 that are eligible for recovery through the NDRRA. Terms of the 
approved settlement provide for the recovery of accrued but unbilled NDRRA revenues over a period of 48 months beginning in January 2010. 
The Company’s December 31, 2009 consolidated balance sheet includes a regulatory asset of $0.6 million for revenues that are eligible for 
recovery through the NDRRA but have not been billed to North Dakota customers.  

North Dakota legislation also provides a mechanism for automatic adjustment outside of a general rate proceeding to recover jurisdictional 
capital and operating costs incurred by a public utility for new or modified electric transmission facilities. OTP requested recovery of such 
costs in its general rate case filed in November 2008, and was granted recovery of such costs by the NDPSC in its November 25, 2009 order.  
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CapX 2020 Request for Advance Determination of Prudence —On October 5, 2009 OTP filed an application for an advance determination of 
prudence with the NDPSC for its proposed participation in three of the four Group 1 projects (Fargo-St. Cloud, Brookings-Southeast Twin 
Cities, and Bemidji-Grand Rapids). An administrative law judge has been assigned to conduct a hearing that is currently scheduled for 
April 2010.  

Recovery of MISO Costs —In February 2005, OTP filed a petition with the NDPSC to seek recovery of certain MISO-related costs through the 
FCA. The NDPSC granted interim recovery through the FCA in April 2005, but similar to the decision of the MPUC, conditioned the relief as 
being subject to refund until the merits of the case are determined. In August 2007, the NDPSC approved a settlement agreement between OTP 
and an intervener representing several large industrial customers in North Dakota. Under the approved settlement agreement, OTP refunded 
$493,000 of MISO schedule 16 and 17 costs collected through the FCA from April 2005 through July 2007 to North Dakota customers 
beginning in October 2007 and ending in January 2008. OTP deferred recognition of these costs plus $330,000 in MISO schedule 16 and 17 
costs incurred from August 2007 through December 2008 and requested recovery of these deferred costs in its general rate case filed in North 
Dakota in November 2008. OTP began amortizing its deferred MISO schedule 16 and 17 costs in North Dakota over a 36-month period 
beginning in December 2009 in conjunction with the implementation of rates approved by the NDPSC in its November 25, 2009 order. As of 
December 31, 2009 the balance of OTP’s deferred MISO schedule 16 and 17 costs was $1,091,000. Base rate recovery for on-going MISO 
schedule 16 and 17 costs was also approved by the NDPSC in its November 25, 2009 order.  

South Dakota  

General Rate Case —On October 31, 2008 OTP filed a general rate case in South Dakota requesting an overall revenue increase of 
approximately $3.8 million, or 15.3%, which included, among other things, recovery of investments and expenses related to renewable 
resources in base rates. OTP increased rates by approximately 11.7% on a temporary basis beginning with electricity consumed on and after 
May 1, 2009, as allowed under South Dakota law. In an order issued by the South Dakota Public Utilities Commission (SDPUC) on June 30, 
2009, OTP was granted an increase in South Dakota retail electric rates of $2.9 million or approximately 11.7%. OTP implemented final, 
approved rates in July 2009.  

Federal  

Revenue Sufficiency Guarantee (RSG) Charges —Since 2006, OTP has been a party to litigation before the FERC regarding the application of 
RSG charges to market participants who withdraw energy from the market or engage in financial-only, virtual sales of energy into the market 
or both. These litigated proceedings occurred in several electric rate and complaint dockets before the FERC and several of the FERC’s orders 
are on review before the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit).  

On November 7, 2008 the FERC issued an order on rehearing and compliance in the RSG proceeding, reversing its determination in a prior 
order and stating that MISO should remove the volume of virtual supply offers of market participants — not physically withdrawing energy — 
from the denominator of the rate calculation from April 25, 2006 forward. MISO interpreted the order to mean that all virtual supply offers and 
deviations in the denominator of the rate calculation that do not ultimately pay the rate should be removed from April 1, 2005 (start of the 
Energy Market ) forward. On November 10, 2008 the FERC issued an order finding the current RSG rate unjust and unreasonable and 
accepting an interim rate that applied RSG charges to all virtual sales until such time as MISO makes a subsequent filing of the new RSG rate.  

On May 6, 2009 the FERC issued an order on rehearing of the November 10, 2008 order. The May order relieved MISO from having to resettle 
RSG payments resulting from the FERC’s earlier decision to remove the words “actually withdraws energy” (AWE) from the RSG tariff 
provisions. Absent this relief (or waiver), the removal of the AWE language would have had two relevant impacts on the RSG charge: (1) it 
would tend to reduce the RSG rate because the rate denominator would include all virtual supply volumes and (2) it would impose RSG 
charges on all cleared virtual supply transactions. The waiver applies to the period August 10, 2007 through November 9, 2008. Beginning 
November 10, 2008, the MISO is obliged to resettle RSG charges by recalculating the RSG rate and impose RSG charges on all virtual supply 
transactions.  

On June 12, 2009 the FERC issued an order on rehearing of the November 7, 2008 order. The June order, at a minimum, relieved MISO from 
having to resettle RSG payments resulting from any difference between the megawatt hours associated with virtual supply in the denominator 
of the RSG rate and the billing determinants associated with virtual supply transactions (VSO mismatch). This relief (or waiver) applies to the 
period April 25, 2006 through November 4, 2007. Since OTP would have had a payment obligation during this period associated with the 
virtual supply and other mismatches, the June order eliminates that payment obligation. However, the June order, like many of the other orders 
in this docket, is subject to appellate review and potential reversal. Beginning from November 5, 2007, MISO is obligated to resettle to correct 
the VSO mismatch. As of September 30, 2009, OTP had paid all its resettlement obligations determined and imposed by MISO. On August 7, 
2009 the FERC issued an order requiring MISO’s RSG Task Force to develop a recommendation on any  
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transactions that should be exempted from paying RSG charges. The RSG Task Force has completed its review and provided recommendations 
to the FERC. The Company does not know when these litigation proceedings will conclude.  

Big Stone II Project  

On June 30, 2005 OTP and a coalition of six other electric providers entered into several agreements for the development of a second electric 
generating unit, named Big Stone II, at the site of the existing Big Stone Plant near Milbank, South Dakota.  

On September 11, 2009 OTP announced its withdrawal—both as a participating utility and as the project’s lead developer—from Big Stone II, 
due to a number of factors. The broad economic downturn, a high level of uncertainty associated with proposed federal climate legislation and 
existing federal environmental regulations and challenging credit and equity markets made proceeding with Big Stone II and committing to 
approximately $400 million in capital expenditures untenable for OTP’s customers and the Company’s shareholders. On November 2, 2009, 
the remaining Big Stone II participants announced the cancellation of the Big Stone II project.  

As of December 31, 2009, OTP had incurred $13.0 million in costs related to this project that it believes are probable of recovery in future rates 
and has deferred recognition of these costs as operating expenses pending determination of recoverability by the state and federal regulatory 
commissions that approve OTP’s rates. In filings made on December 14, 2009, OTP requested from its three state commissions authority to 
reflect these costs on its books as a regulatory asset through the use of deferred accounting, pending a determination on the recoverability of the 
costs. The SDPUC approved OTP’s request for deferred accounting treatment on February 9, 2010. If Minnesota or North Dakota denies the 
requests to use deferred accounting or if any of the three jurisdictions eventually denies recovery of all or any portion of these deferred costs, 
such costs would be subject to expense in the period they are deemed to be inappropriate for deferral or unrecoverable.  
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4. Regulatory Assets and Liabilities  

As a regulated entity OTP accounts for the financial effects of regulation in accordance with ASC 980, Regulated Operations . This accounting 
standard allows for the recording of a regulatory asset or liability for costs that will be collected or refunded in the future as required under 
regulation.  

The following table indicates the amount of regulatory assets and liabilities recorded on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet:  

The regulatory asset and regulatory liability related to the unrecognized transition obligation, prior service costs and actuarial losses and gains 
on pensions and other postretirement benefits represents benefit costs and actuarial losses and gains subject to recovery or return through rates 
as they are expensed over the remaining service lives of active employees included in the plans. These unrecognized benefit costs and actuarial 
losses and gains are required to be recognized as components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in equity under ASC 715, 
Compensation—Retirement Benefits, but are eligible for treatment as regulatory assets based on their probable recovery in future retail electric 
rates.  

Unrecovered Project Costs – Big Stone II are costs incurred by OTP since 2005 related to its participation in the planned construction of a 500- 
to 600-megawatt generating unit at its Big Stone Plant site. On September 11, 2009 OTP announced its withdrawal from participation in the 
Big Stone II project due to a number of factors. The broad economic downturn, a high level of uncertainty associated with proposed federal 
climate legislation and existing federal environmental regulations and challenging credit and equity markets made proceeding with Big Stone II 
and committing to approximately $400 million in capital expenditures untenable for OTP’s customers and the Company’s shareholders. OTP 
believes the costs it incurred during its participation in the project are probable of recovery in future rates and has deferred recognition of these 
costs as operating expenses pending determination of recoverability by the state and federal regulatory commissions that approve OTP’s rates. 
No recovery period has been established for these deferred costs as OTP is in the initial phase of seeking recovery of these costs through the 
regulatory process. If OTP is denied recovery of all or any portion of these deferred costs, such costs would be subject to expense in the period 
they are deemed to be unrecoverable.  

90  

                  
    December 31,     December 31,   
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Regulatory Assets:                  
Unrecognized Transition Obligation, Prior Service Costs and Actuarial Losses on Pensions and Other 

Postretirement Benefits    $ 78,871     $ 64,490   
Unrecovered Project Costs – Big Stone II      12,982       —  
Deferred Marked-to-Market Losses      7,614       1,162   
Deferred Income Taxes      5,441       7,094   
Minnesota Renewable Resource Rider Accrued Revenues      5,324       3,045   
Debt Reacquisition Premiums      3,051       3,357   
Deferred Conservation Improvement Program Costs      1,908       280   
Accumulated ARO Accretion/Depreciation Adjustment      1,808       1,437   
Minnesota General Rate Case Recoverable Expenses      1,693       1,457   
Accrued Cost-of-Energy Revenue      1,175       8,982   
MISO Schedule 16 and 17 Deferred Administrative Costs — ND      1,091       823   
North Dakota Renewable Resource Rider Accrued Revenues      566       2,009   
Minnesota Transmission Rider Accrued Revenues      420       —  
South Dakota – Asset-Based Margin Sharing Shortfall      330       —  
MISO Schedule 16 and 17 Deferred Administrative Costs — MN      252       526   
Deferred Holding Company Formation Costs      248       —  
Plant Acquisition Costs      18       63   

  

Total Regulatory Assets    $ 122,792     $ 94,725   
  

Regulatory Liabilities:                  
Accumulated Reserve for Estimated Removal Costs – Net of Salvage    $ 58,937     $ 58,768   
Deferred Income Taxes      4,965       4,943   
Unrecognized Transition Obligation, Prior Service Costs and Actuarial Gains on Other Postretirement 

Benefits      —      834   
Deferred Marked-to-Market Gains      224       —  
Other Regulatory Liabilities      148       139   

  

Total Regulatory Liabilities    $ 64,274     $ 64,684   
  

Net Regulatory Asset Position    $ 58,518     $ 30,041   
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All Deferred Marked-to-Market Gains and Losses recorded as of December 31, 2009 are related to forward purchases of energy scheduled for 
delivery through December 2013.  

The regulatory assets and liabilities related to Deferred Income Taxes result from changes in statutory tax rates accounted for in accordance 
with ASC 740, Income Taxes .  

Minnesota Renewable Resource Rider Accrued Revenues relate to revenues earned on qualifying 2008 and 2009 renewable resource costs 
incurred to serve Minnesota customers that have not been billed to Minnesota customers as of December 31, 2009. Minnesota Renewable 
Resource Rider Accrued Revenues are expected to be recovered over 51 months, from January 2010 through March 2014.  

Debt Reacquisition Premiums included in Unamortized Debt Expense are being recovered from OTP customers over the remaining original 
lives of the reacquired debt issues, the longest of which is 23 years.  

Deferred Conservation Program Costs represent mandated conservation expenditures and incentives recoverable through retail electric rates 
over the next 18 months.  

The Accumulated ARO Accretion/Depreciation Adjustment will accrete and be amortized over the lives of property with asset retirement 
obligations.  

Minnesota General Rate Case Recoverable Expenses will be recovered over the next 25 months.  

Accrued Cost-of-Energy Revenue included in Accrued Utility and Cost-of-Energy Revenues will be recovered over the next 20 months.  

MISO Schedule 16 and 17 Deferred Administrative Costs – ND will be recovered over the next 35 months.  

North Dakota Renewable Resource Rider Accrued Revenues relate to revenues earned on qualifying 2008 and 2009 renewable resource costs 
incurred to serve North Dakota customers that have not been billed to North Dakota customers as of December 31, 2009. North Dakota 
Renewable Resource Rider Accrued Revenues are expected to be recovered over 48 months, from January 2010 through December 2013.  

Minnesota Transmission Rider Accrued Revenues are expected to be recovered over the next 12 months.  

South Dakota – Asset-Based Margin Sharing Shortfall represents a difference in OTP’s South Dakota share of actual profit margins on 
wholesale sales of electricity from company-owned generating units and estimated profit margins from those sales that were used in 
determining current South Dakota retail electric rates. Net shortfalls or excess margins accumulated over 14 months will be subject to recovery 
or refund through future retail rate adjustments in South Dakota.  

MISO Schedule 16 and 17 Deferred Administrative Costs – MN will be recovered over the next 11 months.  

Deferred Holding Company Formation Costs will be amortized over the next 54 months.  

Plant Acquisition Costs will be amortized over the next 5 months.  

The Accumulated Reserve for Estimated Removal Costs – Net of Salvage is reduced as actual removal costs are incurred.  

Other Regulatory Liabilities includes: 1) a portion of profit margins on wholesales sales of purchased power subject to refund to South Dakota 
customers through future retail rate adjustments and 2) a deferred gain on the sale of utility property that will be paid to Minnesota retail 
electric customers over the next 24 years.  

If for any reason, OTP ceases to meet the criteria for application of guidance under ASC 980 for all or part of its operations, the regulatory 
assets and liabilities that no longer meet such criteria would be removed from the consolidated balance sheet and included in the consolidated 
statement of income as an extraordinary expense or income item in the period in which the application of guidance under ASC 980 ceases.  
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5. Forward Contracts Classified as Derivatives  

Electricity Contracts  

All of OTP’s wholesale purchases and sales of energy under forward contracts that do not meet the definition of capacity contracts are 
considered derivatives subject to mark-to-market accounting. OTP’s objective in entering into forward contracts for the purchase and sale of 
energy is to optimize the use of its generating and transmission facilities and leverage its knowledge of wholesale energy markets in the region 
to maximize financial returns for the benefit of both its customers and shareholders. OTP’s intent in entering into certain of these contracts is to 
settle them through the physical delivery of energy when physically possible and economically feasible. OTP also enters into certain contracts 
for trading purposes with the intent to profit from fluctuations in market prices through the timing of purchases and sales.  

As of December 31, 2009 OTP had recognized, on a pretax basis, $1,030,000 in net unrealized gains on open forward contracts for the 
purchase and sale of electricity. The market prices used to value OTP’s forward contracts for the purchases and sales of electricity and 
electricity generating capacity are determined by survey of counterparties or brokers used by OTP’s power services’ personnel responsible for 
contract pricing, as well as prices gathered from daily settlement prices published by the Intercontinental Exchange. For certain contracts, 
prices at illiquid trading points are based on a basis spread between that trading point and more liquid trading hub prices. These basis spreads 
are determined based on available market price information and the use of forward price curve models. The fair value measurements of these 
forward energy contracts fall into level 2 of the fair value hierarchy set forth in ASC 820-10-35.  

Electric revenues include $15,762,000 in 2009, $27,236,000 in 2008 and $25,640,000 in 2007 related to wholesale electric sales and net 
unrealized derivative gains on forward energy contracts and sales of financial transmission rights and daily settlements of virtual transactions in 
the MISO market, broken down as follows for the years ended December 31:  

The following tables show the effect of marking to market forward contracts for the purchase and sale of energy on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets:  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008     2007   
  

Wholesale Sales — Company-Owned Generation    $ 12,579     $ 23,708     $ 20,345   
  

  
Revenue from Settled Contracts at Market Prices      110,124       520,280       389,643   
Market Cost of Settled Contracts      (109,125 )     (518,866 )     (387,682 ) 
  

Net Margins on Settled Contracts at Market      999       1,414       1,961   
  

Marked-to-Market Gains on Settled Contracts      14,585       39,375       31,243   
Marked-to-Market Losses on Settled Contracts      (13,431 )     (37,138 )     (28,541 ) 
  

Net Marked-to-Market Gain on Settled Contracts      1,154       2,237       2,702   
  

                           
Unrealized Marked-to-Market Gains on Open Contracts      8,097       405       5,117   
Unrealized Marked-to-Market Losses on Open Contracts      (7,067 )     (528 )     (4,485 ) 
  

Net Unrealized Marked-to-Market Gain (Loss) on Open Contracts      1,030       (123 )     632   
  

  
Wholesale Electric Revenue    $ 15,762     $ 27,236     $ 25,640   
  

                  
    December 31,     December 31,   
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

  
Current Asset – Marked-to-Market Gain    $ 8,321     $ 405   
Regulatory Asset – Deferred Marked-to-Market Loss      7,614       1,162   
  

Total Assets      15,935       1,567   
  

Current Liability – Marked-to-Market Loss      (14,681 )     (1,690 ) 
Regulatory Liability – Deferred Marked-to-Market Gain      (224 )     —  
  

Total Liabilities      (14,905 )     (1,690 ) 
]  

  

Net Fair Value of Marked-to-Market Energy Contracts    $ 1,030     $ (123 ) 
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The $1,030,000 in recognized but unrealized net gains on the forward energy and capacity purchases and sales marked to market on 
December 31, 2009 is expected to be realized on settlement as scheduled over the following periods in the amounts listed:  

OTP has credit risk associated with the nonperformance or nonpayment by counterparties to its forward energy and capacity purchases and 
sales agreements. We have established guidelines and limits to manage credit risk associated with wholesale power and capacity purchases and 
sales. Specific limits are determined by a counterparty’s financial strength. OTP’s credit risk with its largest counterparty on delivered and 
marked-to-market forward contracts as of December 31, 2009 was $222,000. As of December 31, 2009 OTP had a net credit risk exposure of 
$387,000 from four counterparties with investment grade credit ratings. OTP had no exposure at December 31, 2009 to counterparties with 
credit ratings below investment grade. Counterparties with investment grade credit ratings have minimum credit ratings of BBB- (Standard & 
Poor’s), Baa3 (Moody’s) or BBB- (Fitch).  

The $387,000 credit risk exposure includes net amounts due to OTP on receivables/payables from completed transactions billed and unbilled 
plus marked-to-market gains/losses on forward contracts for the purchase and sale of electricity scheduled for delivery after December 31, 
2009. Individual counterparty exposures are offset according to legally enforceable netting arrangements.  

Mark-to-market losses of $72,000 on certain of OTP’s derivative energy contracts included in the $14,681,000 derivative liability on 
December 31, 2009 are covered by deposited funds. Certain other of OTP’s derivative energy contracts contain provisions that require an 
investment grade credit rating from each of the major credit rating agencies on OTP’s debt. If OTP’s debt ratings were to fall below investment 
grade, the counterparties to these forward energy contracts could request immediate and ongoing full overnight collateralization on contracts in 
net liability positions. The aggregate fair value of all forward energy derivative contracts with credit-risk-related contingent features that are in 
a liability position on December 31, 2009 is $7,958,000, for which OTP has posted $7,760,000 as collateral in the form of offsetting gain 
positions on other contracts with one of its counterparties under a master netting agreement. If the credit-risk-related contingent features 
underlying these agreements were triggered on December 31, 2009, OTP would have been required to post $198,000 in additional collateral to 
its counterparties. The remaining derivative liability balance of $6,651,000 relates to mark-to-market losses on contracts that have no ratings 
triggers or deposit requirements.  

Fuel Contracts  

In order to limit its exposure to fluctuations in future prices of natural gas and fuel oil, IPH entered into contracts with its fuel suppliers in 
August 2008, January 2009 and December 2009 for firm purchases of natural gas and fuel oil to cover portions of its anticipated natural gas 
needs in Ririe, Idaho and Center, Colorado from September 2008 through August 2009, its fuel oil needs in Souris, Prince Edward Island, 
Canada from January 2009 through August 2009 and its natural gas needs in Ririe, Idaho from January 2010 through August 2010 at fixed 
prices. These contracts qualified for the normal purchase exception to mark-to-market accounting under ASC 815-10-15.  

Foreign Currency Exchange Forward Windows  

The Canadian operations of IPH records its sales and carries its receivables in U.S. dollars but pays its expenses for goods and services 
consumed in Canada in Canadian dollars. The payment of its bills in Canada requires the periodic exchange of U.S. currency for Canadian 
currency. In order to lock in acceptable exchange rates and hedge its exposure to future fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between 
the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar, IPH’s Canadian subsidiary entered into forward contracts for the exchange of U.S. dollars into 
Canadian dollars in 2008. Each monthly contract was for the exchange of $400,000 U.S. dollars for the amount of Canadian dollars stated in 
each contract. IPH’s Canadian subsidiary also entered into forward contracts for the exchange of U.S. dollars into Canadian dollars in 
July 2009. Each monthly contract  
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    Year ended     Year ended   
(in thousands)   December 31, 2009     December 31, 2008   
  

Fair Value at Beginning of Year    $ (123 )   $ 632   
Amount Realized on Contracts Entered into in Prior Year      123       (1,169 ) 
Changes in Fair Value of Contracts Entered into in Prior Year      —      537   
  

Net Fair Value of Contracts Entered into in Prior Year at Year End      —      —  
Changes in Fair Value of Contracts Entered into in Current Year      1,030       (123 ) 
  

Net Fair Value at End of Year    $ 1,030     $ (123 ) 
  

                                  
(in thousands)   2010     2011     2012     Total   
  

Net Gain    $ 389     $ 320     $ 321     $ 1,030   
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was for the exchange of $200,000 U.S. dollars for the amount of Canadian dollars stated in each contract. All contracts were settled as of 
December 31, 2009.  

The following table lists the contracts entered into in 2008 and 2009 that were settled in 2009.  

These contracts were derivatives subject to mark-to-market accounting. IPH did not enter into these contracts for speculative purposes or with 
the intent of early settlement, but for the purpose of locking in acceptable exchange rates and hedging its exposure to future fluctuations in 
exchange rates. IPH settled these contracts during their stated settlement periods and used the proceeds to pay its Canadian liabilities when they 
came due. These contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment because the timing of their settlements did not coincide with the 
payment of specific bills or contractual obligations.  

The fair value measurements of the above foreign currency exchange forward windows fall into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy set forth in 
ASC 820-10-35.  

6. Common Shares and Earnings Per Share  

On May 11, 2009 the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under which it 
may offer for sale, from time to time, either separately or together in any combination, equity and/or debt securities described in the shelf 
registration statement, including common shares of the Company.  

On July 1, 2009 Otter Tail Corporation completed a holding company reorganization in accordance with Section 302A.626 of the Minnesota 
Business Corporation Act (the MBCA) whereby OTP (also referred to as Old Otter Tail), which had previously been operated as a division of 
Otter Tail Corporation, became a wholly owned subsidiary of the new parent holding company named Otter Tail Corporation (formerly known 
as Otter Tail Holding Company).  

The new holding company structure was effected as of July 1, 2009 pursuant to a Plan of Merger dated as of June 30, 2009 (the Plan of 
Merger), by and among Old Otter Tail, Otter Tail Holding Company (now known as Otter Tail Corporation), a Minnesota corporation and, 
prior to the reorganization, a direct subsidiary of Old Otter Tail, and Otter Tail Merger Sub Inc., a Minnesota corporation and indirect 
subsidiary of Old Otter Tail and direct subsidiary of Otter Tail Holding Company (Merger Sub). The Plan of Merger provided for the merger 
(the Merger) of Old Otter Tail with Merger Sub, with Old Otter Tail as the surviving corporation. Pursuant to Section 302A.626 (subd. 2) of 
the MBCA shareholder approval was not required for the Merger. As a result of the Merger, Old Otter Tail is now a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company with the name Otter Tail Power Company. Immediately following the completion of the Merger, the Company changed its 
name from Otter Tail Holding Company to Otter Tail Corporation.  

In the Merger, each issued and outstanding common share of Old Otter Tail was converted into one common share of the Company, par value 
$5 per share, and each issued and outstanding cumulative preferred share of Old Otter Tail was converted into one cumulative preferred share 
of the Company having the same designations, rights, powers and preferences. In connection with the Merger, each person that held rights to 
purchase, or other rights to or interests in, common shares of Old Otter Tail under any stock option, stock purchase or compensation plan or 
arrangement of Old Otter Tail immediately prior to the Merger holds a corresponding number of rights to purchase, and other rights to or 
interests in, common shares of the Company, par value $5 per share, immediately following the Merger.  
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(in thousands)   Settlement Periods     USD     CAD   
  

Contracts Entered into in July 2008    January 2009 - July 2009   $ 2,800     $ 2,918   
Mark-to-Market Losses on Open Contracts at Year End 2008    January 2009 - July 2009     (401 )         

  

  
Contracts Entered into in October 2008    January 2009 - October 2009   $ 4,000     $ 5,001   

Mark-to-Market Gains on Open Contracts at Year End 2008    January 2009 - October 2009     112           
  

  
Net Mark-to-Market Losses Recognized on Open Contracts at Year End 2008   $ (289 )         
Net Mark-to-Market Gains in 2009 on Open Contracts at Year End 2008     232           
  

        

Net Losses Realized on Settlement of 2008 contacts in 2009            $ (57 )         
  

        

                           
Contracts Entered Into in July 2009    August 2009 - December 2009   $ 1,000     $ 1,163   
  

  
Net Mark-to-Market Gains Recognized and Realized on contracts entered into in 2009   $ 88           
  

        

Net Mark-to-Market Gains Recognized in 2009            $ 320           
  

        

Net Mark-to-Market Gains Realized in 2009            $ 31           
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The conversion of the common shares in the Merger occurred without an exchange of certificates. Accordingly, certificates formerly 
representing outstanding common shares of Old Otter Tail are deemed to represent the same number of common shares of the Company.  

Pursuant to Section 302A.626 (subd. 7) of the MBCA, the provisions of the Restated Articles of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws of the 
Company are consistent with those of Old Otter Tail prior to the Merger. The authorized common shares and cumulative preferred shares of the 
Company, the designations, rights, powers and preferences of such shares and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof are also 
consistent with those of Old Otter Tail’s common shares and cumulative preferred shares immediately prior to the Merger. The directors and 
executive officers of the Company are the same individuals who were directors and executive officers, respectively, of Old Otter Tail 
immediately prior to the Merger.  

Immediately prior to the Merger, Old Otter Tail transferred to the Company by means of assignment the capital stock of its direct subsidiaries 
and all of its other assets not specific to the operation of the OTP. As a result, the Company is a holding company with two primary 
subsidiaries, OTP (the electric utility) and Varistar (a holding company for the Company’s nonelectric businesses).  

Following is a reconciliation of the Company’s common shares outstanding from December 31, 2008 through December 31, 2009:  

Stock Incentive Plan  

The 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (Incentive Plan), provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, 
restricted stock units, performance awards, and other stock and stock-based awards. A total of 3,600,000 common shares are authorized for 
granting stock awards, of which 822,317 were still available as of December 31, 2009 under the Incentive Plan, which terminates on 
December 13, 2013.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Plan) allows eligible employees to purchase the Company’s common shares at 85% of the 
market price at the end of each six-month purchase period. The number of common shares authorized to be issued under the Purchase Plan is 
900,000, of which 230,482 were still available for purchase as of December 31, 2009. At the discretion of the Company, shares purchased 
under the Purchase Plan can be either new issue shares or shares purchased in the open market. To provide shares for the Purchase Plan, the 
Company issued 62,450 common shares and purchased 42,611 common shares in the open market in 2009, 49,684 common shares were 
purchased in the open market in 2008 and 52,558 common shares were purchased in the open market in 2007. The shares to be purchased by 
employees participating in the Purchase Plan are not considered dilutive during the investment period for the purpose of calculating diluted 
earnings per share.  

Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan  

On August 30, 1996 the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC for the issuance of up to 2,000,000 common shares pursuant 
to the Company’s Automatic Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan (the Plan), which permits shares purchased by shareholders or 
customers who participate in the Plan to be either new issue common shares or common shares purchased in the open market. The Company’s 
shelf registration statement expired on December 1, 2008 and was replaced by an automatically effective shelf registration statement filed by 
the Company on November 26, 2008 for the issuance of up to 1,000,000 common shares pursuant to the Plan. From November 2004 through 
April 2009 the Company had  
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Common Shares Outstanding, December 31, 2008      35,384,620   
Issuances:          

Dividend Reinvestment Plan – Dividend Purchases      163,224   
Dividend Reinvestment Plan — Direct Purchases      70,719   
Stock Options Exercised      50,350   
Employee Stock Purchase Plan – Direct Purchase      45,413   
Executive Officer Stock Performance Awards      29,350   
Restricted Stock Issued to Nonemployee Directors      28,800   
Restricted Stock Issued to Employees      27,600   
Employee Stock Purchase Plan – Dividend Reinvestment      17,037   
Vesting of Restricted Stock Units      5,350   

Retirements:          
Shares Withheld for Individual Income Tax Requirements      (10,183 ) 

  

Common Shares Outstanding, December 31, 2009      35,812,280   
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purchased common shares in the open market to provide shares for the Plan. From May 2009 through December 2009 the Company issued 
233,943 common shares to provide shares for the Plan.  

Earnings Per Share  

Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing earnings available for common shares by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share are calculated by adjusting outstanding shares, assuming 
conversion of all potentially dilutive stock options. Stock options with exercise prices greater than the market price are excluded from the 
calculation of diluted earnings per common share. Nonvested restricted shares granted to the Company’s directors and employees are 
considered dilutive for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share but are considered contingently returnable and not outstanding for 
the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share. Underlying shares related to nonvested restricted stock units granted to employees are 
considered dilutive for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share. Shares expected to be awarded for stock performance awards 
granted to executive officers are considered dilutive for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share.  

Excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share are the following outstanding stock options which had exercise prices greater than 
the average market price for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:  

7. Share-Based Payments  

Purchase Plan  

The Purchase Plan allows employees through payroll withholding to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a 15% discount from 
the average market price on the last day of a six month investment period. Under ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, the Company 
is required to record compensation expense related to the 15% discount. The 15% discount resulted in compensation expense of $310,000 in 
2009, $275,000 in 2008 and $257,000 in 2007. The 15% discount is not taxable to the employee and is not a deductible expense for tax 
purposes for the Company.  

Stock Options Granted Under the Incentive Plan  

Since the inception of the Incentive Plan in 1999, the Company has granted 2,041,500 options for the purchase of the Company’s common 
stock. All of the options granted had vested or were forfeited as of December 31, 2007. The exercise price of the options granted was the 
average market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Under ASC 718 accounting requirements, compensation expense is 
recorded based on the estimated fair value of the options on their grant date using a fair-value option pricing model. Under ASC 718 
accounting, the fair value of the options granted has been recorded as compensation expense over the requisite service period (the vesting 
period of the options). The estimated fair value of all options granted under the Incentive Plan was based on the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model.  

Under the modified prospective application of share-based payment accounting requirements, the difference between the intrinsic value of 
nonvested options and the fair value of those options of $362,000 on January 1, 2006 was recognized on a straight-line basis as compensation 
expense over the remaining 16 months of the options vesting period. Accordingly, the Company recorded compensation expense of $91,000 in 
2007 related to options that were not vested as of January 1, 2006.  

Presented below is a summary of the stock options activity:  
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Year   Options Outstanding     Range of Exercise Prices   
  

2009      415,710     $ 24.93 — $31.34   
2008      —    NA 
2007      —    NA 
  

                                                  
Stock Option Activity   2009     2008     2007   
            Average Exercise             Average Exercise             Average Exercise   
    Options     Price     Options     Price     Options     Price   
  

Outstanding, Beginning of Year      507,702     $ 26.00       787,137     $ 25.73       1,091,238     $ 25.74   
Granted      —      —      —      —      —      —  
Exercised      50,350       19.73       276,685       25.23       298,601       25.73   
Forfeited      12,542       21.87       2,750       27.11       5,500       28.85   
              

Outstanding, End of Year      444,810       26.82       507,702       26.00       787,137       25.73   
              

Exercisable, End of Year      444,810       26.82       507,702       26.00       787,137       25.73   
Cash Received for Options Exercised            $ 994,000             $ 6,981,000             $ 7,682,000   
Fair Value of Options Granted During 

Year            none granted           none granted           none granted 
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The following table summarizes information about options outstanding as of December 31, 2009:  

Restricted Stock Granted to Directors  

Under the Incentive Plan, restricted shares of the Company’s common stock have been granted to members of the Company’s Board of 
Directors as a form of compensation. Under ASC 718 accounting requirements, compensation expense related to restricted shares is based on 
the fair value of the restricted shares on their grant dates. On April 20, 2009 the Company’s Board of Directors granted 28,800 shares of 
restricted stock to the Company’s nonemployee directors. The restricted shares vest 25% per year on April 8 of each year in the period 2010 
through 2013 and are eligible for full dividend and voting rights. The grant date fair value of each share of restricted stock was $22.15 per 
share, the average market price on the date of grant.  

Presented below is a summary of the status of directors’ restricted stock awards for the years ended December 31:  

Restricted Stock Granted to Employees  

Under the Incentive Plan, restricted shares of the Company’s common stock have been granted to employees as a form of compensation. Under 
ASC 718 accounting requirements, compensation expense related to restricted shares is based on the fair value of the restricted shares on their 
grant dates. On April 20, 2009 the Company’s Board of Directors granted 27,600 shares of restricted stock to the Company’s executive officers 
under the Incentive Plan. The restricted shares vest 25% per year on April 8 of each year in the period 2010 through 2013 and are eligible for 
full dividend and voting rights. The grant date fair value of each share of restricted stock was $22.15 per share, the average market price on the 
date of grant.  

Presented below is a summary of the status of employees’ restricted stock awards for the years ended December 31:  
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Options Outstanding and Exercisable 

            Weighted-Average         
    Outstanding and     Remaining         
Range of   Exercisable as of     Contractual Life     Weighted-Average   
Exercise Prices   12/31/09     (yrs)     Exercise price   
  

$18.80-$21.94      29,100       0.3     $ 19.75   
$21.95-$25.07      26,550       5.3       24.93   
$25.08-$28.21      304,010       1.9       26.48   
$28.22-$31.34      85,150       2.2       31.06   

                                                  
Directors’  Restricted Stock Awards   2009     2008     2007   
            Weighted Average             Weighted Average             Weighted Average   
            Grant-Date Fair             Grant-Date Fair             Grant-Date Fair   
    Shares     Value     Shares     Value     Shares     Value   
  

Nonvested, Beginning of Year      39,300     $ 33.45       34,100     $ 30.80       32,775     $ 27.27   
Granted      28,800       22.15       20,000       35.345       15,200       35.04   
Vested      13,800       32.06       14,800       29.92       13,875       27.10   
Forfeited      —              —              —          
  

Nonvested, End of Year      54,300       27.81       39,300       33.45       34,100       30.80   
  

Compensation Expense Recognized            $ 535,000             $ 461,000             $ 454,000   
Fair Value of Shares Vested in Year              442,000               443,000               376,000   
  

                                                  
Employees’  Restricted Stock Awards   2009     2008     2007   
            Weighted Average             Weighted Average             Weighted Average   
    Shares     Fair Value     Shares     Fair Value     Shares     Fair Value   
  

Nonvested, Beginning of Year      34,146     $ 34.72       24,058     $ 35.46       31,666     $ 31.47   
Granted      27,600       22.15       19,371       35.345       17,300       35.82   
Variable/Liability Awards Vested      2,250       22.91       4,808       34.85       24,608       35.09   
Nonvariable Awards Vested      9,018       35.84       4,475       35.80       300       35.30   
Forfeited      —              —              —          
  

Nonvested, End of Year      50,478       28.31       34,146       34.72       24,058       35.46   
  

Compensation Expense Recognized            $ 439,000             $ 434,000             $ 549,000   
Fair Value of Variable Awards 

Vested/Liability Paid              52,000               168,000               863,000   
Fair Value of Nonvariable Awards 

Vested              323,000               160,000               11,000   
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Restricted Stock Units Granted to Employees  

On April 20, 2009 the Company’s Board of Directors granted 29,515 restricted stock units to key employees under the Incentive Plan payable 
in common shares on April 8, 2013, the date the units vest. The grant date fair value of each restricted stock unit was $18.86 per share. The 
weighted average contractual term of stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2009 is 2.4 years.  

Presented below is a summary of the status of employees’ restricted stock unit awards for the years ended December 31:  

Stock Performance Awards granted to Executive Officers  

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors has approved stock performance award agreements under the Incentive 
Plan for the Company’s executive officers. Under these agreements, the officers could be awarded shares of the Company’s common stock 
based on the Company’s total shareholder return relative to that of its peer group of companies in the Edison Electric Institute (EEI) Index over 
a three-year period beginning on January 1 of the year the awards are granted. The number of shares earned, if any, will be awarded and issued 
at the end of each three-year performance measurement period. The participants have no voting or dividend rights under these award 
agreements until the shares are issued at the end of the performance measurement period. Under ASC 718 accounting requirements, the amount 
of compensation expense recorded related to awards granted is based on the estimated grant-date fair value of the awards as determined under a 
Monte Carlo valuation method for awards granted prior to 2009. The offsetting credit to amounts expensed related to the stock performance 
awards granted prior to 2009 is included in common shareholders’ equity.  

On April 20, 2009 the Company’s Board of Directors granted performance share awards to the Company’s executive officers under the 
Incentive Plan for the 2009-2011 performance measurement period. The terms of these awards are such that the entire award will be classified 
and accounted for as a liability, as required under ASC 718-10-25-18, and will be measured over the performance period based on the fair 
value of the award at the end of each reporting period subsequent to the grant date.  

The table below provides a summary of stock performance awards granted and amounts expensed related to the stock performance awards:  

As of December 31, 2009 the total remaining unrecognized amount of compensation expense related to stock-based compensation for all of the 
Company’s stock-based payment programs was approximately $5.8 million (before income taxes), which will be amortized over a weighted-
average period of 2.1 years.  
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Employees’  Restricted Stock Unit Awards   2009     2008     2007   
            Weighted Average             Weighted Average             Weighted Average   
    Restricted Stock     Grant-Date Fair     Restricted Stock     Grant-Date Fair     Restricted Stock     Grant-Date Fair   
    Units     Value     Units     Value     Units     Value   
  

Nonvested, Beginning of Year      73,585     $ 28.13       55,480     $ 26.66       38,615     $ 24.65   
Granted      29,515       18.86       26,650       30.92       23,450       30.07   
Converted      5,350       24.94       3,850       25.93       4,850       26.95   
Forfeited      5,080       27.33       4,695       28.07       1,735       27.03   
  

Nonvested, End of Year      92,670       25.42       73,585       28.13       55,480       26.66   
  

Compensation Expense Recognized            $ 543,000             $ 535,000             $ 383,000   
Fair Value of Units Converted in Year             133,000               100,000               131,000   
  

                                                          
    Maximum Shares                             
    Subject     Shares Used             Expense Recognized         
Performance Period   to Award     to Estimate Expense     Fair Value     in the Year Ended December 31,     Shares Awarded   
                            2009     2008     2007           
  

2009-2011      181,200       90,600     $ 27.98     $ 845,000     $ —    $ —          
2008-2010      114,800       70,843     $ 37.59       888,000       888,000       —          
2007-2009      109,000       67,263     $ 38.01       852,000       852,000       852,000       34,768   
2006-2008      88,050       58,700     $ 25.95       —      508,000       508,000       29,350   
2005-2007      75,150       50,872     $ 22.10       —      —      375,000       62,625   
  

Total                            $ 2,585,000     $ 2,248,000     $ 1,735,000       126,743   
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8. Retained Earnings Restriction  

The Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, contain provisions that limit the amount of dividends that may be paid to 
common shareholders by the amount of any declared but unpaid dividends to holders of the Company’s cumulative preferred shares. Under 
these provisions none of the Company’s retained earnings were restricted at December 31, 2009.  

9. Commitments and Contingencies  

Electric Utility Construction Contracts, Capacity and Energy Requirements and Coal and Delivery Contracts  

At December 31, 2009 OTP had commitments under contracts in connection with construction programs aggregating approximately 
$8,944,000. For capacity and energy requirements, OTP has agreements extending through 2034 at annual costs of approximately $19,374,000 
in 2010, $16,599,000 in 2011, $17,844,000 in 2012 and $10,726,000 in 2013, $5,696,000 in 2014, and $84,579,000 for the years beyond 2014.  

OTP has contracts providing for the purchase and delivery of a significant portion of its current coal requirements. These contracts expire in 
2010, 2011 and 2016. In total, OTP is committed to the minimum purchase of approximately $111,039,000 or to make payments in lieu 
thereof, under these contracts. The FCA mechanism lessens the risk of loss from market price changes because it provides for recovery of most 
fuel costs.  

IPH Potato Supply and Fuel Purchase Commitments  

IPH has commitments of approximately $10,000,000 for the purchase of a portion of its 2010 raw potato supply requirements and $1,600,000 
for the firm purchase of natural gas to cover a portion of its anticipated fuel needs in Ririe, Idaho through August 2010.  

Operating Lease Commitments  

The amounts of future operating lease payments are as follows:  

The electric future operating lease payments are primarily related to coal rail-car leases. The nonelectric future operating lease payments are 
primarily related to medical imaging equipment. Rent expense from continuing operations was $50,293,000, $50,761,000 and $47,904,000 for 
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

Sierra Club Complaint  

On June 10, 2008 the Sierra Club filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of South Dakota (Northern Division) against the 
Company and two other co-owners of Big Stone Generating Station (Big Stone). The complaint alleged certain violations of the Prevention of 
Significant Deterioration and New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) provisions of the Clean Air Act (CAA) and certain violations of the 
South Dakota State Implementation Plan (South Dakota SIP). The action further alleged the defendants modified and operated Big Stone 
without obtaining the appropriate permits, without meeting certain emissions limits and NSPS requirements and without installing appropriate 
emission control technology, all allegedly in violation of the CAA and the South Dakota SIP. The Sierra Club alleged the defendants’ actions 
have contributed to air pollution and visibility impairment and have increased the risk of adverse health effects and environmental damage. The 
Sierra Club sought both declaratory and injunctive relief to bring the defendants into compliance with the CAA and the South Dakota SIP and 
to require the defendants to remedy the alleged violations. The Sierra Club also seeks unspecified civil penalties, including a beneficial 
mitigation project. The Company believes these claims are without merit and that Big Stone was and is being operated in compliance with the 
CAA and the South Dakota SIP.  

The defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Sierra Club complaint on August 12, 2008. On March 31, 2009 and April 6, 2009, the District 
Court issued a Memorandum and Order and Amended Memorandum and Order, respectively, granting the defendants’ motion to dismiss the 
Sierra Club complaint. On April 17, 2009 the Sierra Club filed a motion for reconsideration of the Amended Memorandum Opinion and Order. 
The Sierra Club motion was opposed by the defendants. The Sierra Club  
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(in thousands)   Electric     Nonelectric     Total   
  

2010    $ 2,491     $ 35,821     $ 38,312   
2011      1,411       22,097       23,508   
2012      924       12,590       13,514   
2013      933       6,921       7,854   
2014      944       4,317       5,261   
Later years      15,642       1,698       17,340   
  

Total    $ 22,345     $ 83,444     $ 105,789   
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motion for reconsideration was denied on July 22, 2009. On July 30, 2009 the Sierra Club filed a notice of appeal to the 8th U.S. Circuit Court 
of Appeals. The briefing schedule calls for the appellant to submit its brief by mid-October, for appellees to submit their brief by mid-
November and for the appellant to submit its reply brief by the end of November. On October 13, 2009, the United States Department of 
Justice filed a motion seeking a 30-day extension of the time to file an amicus brief in support of the Sierra Club’s position. The Court of 
Appeals granted this motion, as well as the appellees’ subsequent joint motion with the Sierra Club, extending the time to file the appellees’ 
brief and the Sierra Club’s reply brief. Briefing was complete on January 22, 2010 on filing of the Sierra Club’s reply brief. The ultimate 
outcome of this matter cannot be determined at this time.  

Federal Power Act Complaint  

On August 29, 2008 Renewable Energy System Americas, Inc. (RES), a developer of wind generation, and PEAK Wind Development, LLC 
(PEAK Wind), a group of landowners in Barnes County, North Dakota, filed a complaint with the FERC alleging that OTP and Minnkota 
Power Cooperative, Inc. (Minnkota) had acted together in violation of the Federal Power Act (FPA) to deny RES and PEAK Wind access to 
the Pillsbury Line, an interconnection facility which Minnkota owns to interconnect generation projects being developed by OTP and NextEra 
Energy Resources, Inc. (fka FPL Energy, Inc.) (NextEra). RES and PEAK Wind asked that (1) the FERC order Minnkota to interconnect its 
Glacier Ridge project to the Pillsbury Line, or in the alternative, (2) the FERC direct MISO to interconnect the Glacier Ridge project to the 
Pillsbury Line. RES and Peak Wind also requested that OTP, Minnkota and NextEra pay any costs associated with interconnecting the Glacier 
Ridge Project to the MISO transmission system which would result from the interconnection of the Pillsbury Line to the Minnkota transmission 
system, and that the FERC assess civil penalties against OTP. OTP answered the complaint on September 29, 2008, denying the allegations of 
RES and PEAK Wind and requesting that the FERC dismiss the complaint. On October 14, 2008, RES and PEAK Wind filed an answer to 
OTP’s answer and, restated the allegations included in the initial complaint. RES and PEAK Wind also added a request that the FERC rescind 
both OTP’s waiver from the FERC Standards of Conduct and its market-based rate authority. On October 28, 2008, OTP filed a reply, denying 
the allegations made by RES and PEAK Wind in its answer. By order issued on December 19, 2008, the FERC set the complaint for hearing 
and established settlement procedures. A formal settlement agreement was filed with the FERC requesting approval of the settlement and 
withdrawal of the complaint. The Company expects the FERC will issue an order approving the settlement and terminating the proceeding. The 
settlement is not expected to have a material impact on OTP’s financial position or results of operations.  

Product Recall  

Aviva Sports, Inc. (Aviva), a subsidiary of ShoreMaster, markets a variety of consumer products to catalog companies and internet based 
retailers. Some of these products are regulated by the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC). On February 3, 2009 Aviva 
received a report of consumer contacts from a catalog customer related to one of Aviva’s trampoline products. Aviva has not received any 
personal injury claims or lawsuits related to this product. Aviva submitted notification of the complaints to the CPSC and voluntarily agreed to 
undertake a recall of approximately 13,200 of the trampoline products sold to consumers. ShoreMaster recorded a liability and operating 
expense of $1.4 million related to the recall in the first quarter of 2009. The expense included a projected 50% response rate on the recall 
request, fees to the third party recall administrator, costs to destroy inventory and all legal and administration fees. Due to dwindling customer 
response, ShoreMaster concluded its recall effort in February, 2010. The number of products returned or otherwise captured by the recall is 
consistent with the anticipated rate of 50%. ShoreMaster anticipates the final cost of the recall to be $1.2 million.  

Other  

The Company is a party to litigation arising in the normal course of business. The Company regularly analyzes current information and, as 
necessary, provides accruals for liabilities that are probable of occurring and that can be reasonably estimated. The Company believes the effect 
on its consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows, if any, for the disposition of all matters pending as of December 31, 
2009 will not be material.  
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10. Short-Term and Long-Term Borrowings  

Short-Term Debt  

The following table presents the status of our lines of credit as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008:  

The weighted average interest rates on consolidated short-term debt outstanding on December 31, 2009 and 2008 were 2.2% and 2.8%, 
respectively. The weighted average interest rate paid on consolidated short-term debt was 2.4% in 2009 and 4.1% in 2008.  

Prior to the Company’s holding company reorganization on July 1, 2009, Varistar, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, was the borrower 
under a $200 million credit agreement (the Credit Agreement) with the following banks: U.S. Bank National Association, as agent for the 
Banks and as Lead Arranger, Bank of America, N.A., Keybank National Association, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Co-
Documentation Agents, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Bank of the West and Union Bank of California, N.A. Effective July 1, 2009 all of 
Varistar’s rights and obligations under the Credit Agreement were assigned to and assumed by the Company. Beginning July 1, 2009 
borrowings bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.375%, subject to adjustment based on the senior unsecured credit ratings of the Company. The Credit 
Agreement expires October 2, 2010 and is an unsecured revolving credit facility. The Credit Agreement contains a number of restrictions on 
the Company and the businesses of Varistar and its material subsidiaries, including restrictions on their ability to merge, sell assets, incur 
indebtedness, create or incur liens on assets, guarantee the obligations of certain other parties and engage in transactions with related parties. 
The Credit Agreement also contains affirmative covenants and events of default. The Credit Agreement does not include provisions for the 
termination of the agreement or the acceleration of repayment of amounts outstanding due to changes in the borrower’s credit ratings. The 
Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by Varistar and its material subsidiaries. Outstanding letters of credit issued 
by the borrower under the Credit Agreement can reduce the amount available for borrowing under the line by up to $30 million. The Credit 
Agreement has an accordion feature whereby the line can be increased to $300 million as described in the Credit Agreement. The Company is 
in the process of negotiating a renewal of the Credit Agreement to be effective at the expiration of current term of the Credit Agreement.  

Prior to the Company’s holding company reorganization on July 1, 2009, Otter Tail Corporation, dba Otter Tail Power Company (now OTP) 
was the borrower under a $170 million credit agreement (the OTP Credit Agreement) with an accordion feature whereby the line can be 
increased to $250 million as described in the OTP Credit Agreement. The credit agreement was entered into between Otter Tail Corporation, 
dba Otter Tail Power Company (now OTP) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and Merrill Lynch Bank 
USA, as Banks, U.S. Bank National Association, as a Bank and as agent for the Banks, and Bank of America, N.A., as a Bank and as 
Syndication Agent. The OTP Credit Agreement is an unsecured revolving credit facility that OTP can draw on to support the working capital 
needs and other capital requirements of its operations. Borrowings under this line of credit bear interest at LIBOR plus 0.5%, subject to 
adjustment based on the ratings of the borrower’s senior unsecured debt. The OTP Credit Agreement contains a number of restrictions on the 
business of OTP, including restrictions on its ability to merge, sell assets, incur indebtedness, create or incur liens on assets, guarantee the 
obligations of any other party, and engage in transactions with related parties. The OTP Credit Agreement also contains affirmative covenants 
and events of default. The OTP Credit Agreement does not include provisions for the termination of the agreement or the acceleration of 
repayment of amounts outstanding due to changes in the borrower’s credit ratings. The OTP Credit Agreement is subject to renewal on July 30, 
2011. Following the Company’s holding company reorganization, the OTP Credit Agreement is an obligation of OTP.  
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                    Restricted due to               
            In Use on     Outstanding Letters     Available on     Available on   
(in thousands)   Line Limit     December 31, 2009     of Credit     December 31, 2009     December 31, 2008   
  

Otter Tail Corporation Credit Agreement    $ 200,000     $ 6,000     $ 14,245     $ 179,755     $ 77,706   
OTP Credit Agreement 1      170,000       1,585       680       167,735       142,935   
  

Total    $ 370,000     $ 7,585     $ 14,925     $ 347,490     $ 220,641   
  

  

1   On January 4, 2010, OTP paid off the remaining $58.0 million balance outstanding on its two-year, $75.0 million term loan that was 
originally due on May 20, 2011, using lower costs funds available under the OTP Credit Agreement. OTP did not incur any penalties for 
the early repayment and retirement of this debt. 
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Long-Term Debt  

On May 11, 2009 the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC under which it may offer for sale, from time to time, either 
separately or together in any combination, equity and/or debt securities described in the shelf registration statement.  

9.000% Notes due 2016  

On December 4, 2009 the Company issued $100 million of its 9.000% notes due 2016 under the indenture (for unsecured debt securities) dated 
as of November 1, 1997, as amended by the First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 1, 2009, between the Company and U.S. Bank 
National Association (formerly First Trust National Association), as trustee. The notes are unsecured indebtedness and bear interest at 9.000% 
per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning June 15, 2010. The entire principal amount of 
the notes, unless previously redeemed or otherwise repaid, will mature and become due and payable on December 15, 2016. The net proceeds 
from the issuance of approximately $98.3 million, after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses, were used to repay our 
revolving credit facility, which had an outstanding balance due of $107.0 million on November 30, 2009 at an interest rate of approximately 
2.6%. The Company used approximately $44.5 million of the borrowings under its revolving credit facility to fund costs incurred for the 
expansion of its subsidiary companies’ manufacturing facilities in 2008 and 2009. The Company used approximately $23.0 million to fund the 
acquisition of Miller Welding in 2008 and approximately $28.5 million in connection with the capitalization of its holding company 
reorganization in 2009.  

Term Loan Agreement and Retirement  

Prior to the Company’s holding company reorganization on July 1, 2009, Otter Tail Corporation, dba Otter Tail Power Company (now OTP) 
was the borrower under a $75 million term loan agreement (the OTP Loan Agreement). The OTP Loan Agreement was entered into between 
Otter Tail Corporation, dba Otter Tail Power Company (now OTP) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, KeyBank 
National Association, as Syndication Agent, Union Bank, N.A., as Documentation Agent, and the Banks named therein. On completion of the 
Company’s holding company formation on July 1, 2009, the OTP Loan Agreement became an obligation of OTP. The OTP Loan Agreement 
provided for a $75 million term loan due May 20, 2011. The proceeds were used to support OTP’s construction of 49.5 MW of renewable 
wind-generation assets at the Luverne Wind Farm. In November 2009, OTP paid down $17 million of the $75 million term loan. OTP paid off 
the remaining $58 million balance in January 2010, using lower cost funds available under the OTP Credit Agreement. OTP did not incur any 
penalties for the early repayments and retirement of its debt under the Loan Agreement.  

Borrowings under the OTP Loan Agreement bore interest at a rate equal to the base rate in effect from time to time. The base rate was a 
fluctuating rate per annum equal to (i) the highest of (A) JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.’s prime rate, (B) the Federal funds effective rate plus 
0.5% per annum, and (C) a daily LIBOR rate plus 1.0% per annum, plus (ii) a margin of 1.5% to 3.0% determined on the basis of OTP’s senior 
unsecured credit ratings, as provided in the Loan Agreement. The interest rate on borrowings under the OTP Loan Agreement was 3.73% at 
December 31, 2009.  

The OTP Loan Agreement contained a number of restrictions on the business of OTP, including restrictions on its ability to merge, sell assets , 
make certain investments, create or incur liens on assets, guarantee the obligations of any other party, and engage in transactions with related 
parties. The OTP Loan Agreement also contained certain financial covenants. Specifically, OTP could not permit the ratio of its “Interest-
bearing Debt” to “Total Capitalization” (each as defined in the OTP Loan Agreement) to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00, or permit its “Interest and 
Dividend Coverage Ratio” (as defined in the OTP Loan Agreement) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters to be less than 1.50 to 
1.00. The OTP Loan Agreement also contained affirmative covenants and events of default. The OTP Loan Agreement did not include 
provisions for the termination of the agreement or the acceleration of repayment of amounts outstanding due to changes in OTP’s credit ratings. 
The obligations of OTP under the OTP Loan Agreement were unsecured.  

Other Debt Retirement  

In June 2009, the Company paid $3,493,000 to retire early its Lombard US Equipment Finance note due October 2, 2010. No penalty was paid 
for early retirement of the note.  
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Amendments to Note Purchase Agreements  

In connection with Otter Tail Corporation’s holding company reorganization on July 1, 2009, amendments to the following note purchase 
agreements were entered into in order to obtain the consent of the related noteholders to the reorganization.  

Fourth Amendment to 2001 Note Purchase Agreement  

On June 30, 2009 Otter Tail Corporation (now known as OTP) (Old Otter Tail) entered into a Fourth Amendment dated as of June 30, 2009 to 
Note Purchase Agreement dated as of December 1, 2001 (the Fourth Amendment) with the holders of the 2001 Notes referred to below, 
amending the Note Purchase Agreement dated as of December 1, 2001 among Old Otter Tail and each of the purchasers named on Schedule A 
attached thereto, as amended (the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement). The 2001 Note Purchase Agreement relates to the issuance and sale by Old 
Otter Tail, in a private placement transaction, of its $90,000,000 6.63% Senior Notes due December 1, 2011 (the 2001 Notes). The Fourth 
Amendment sets forth the terms and conditions of the 2001 Noteholders’ consent to the holding company reorganization and amends certain 
provisions of the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement, both in connection with the holding company reorganization and for the purpose of 
achieving greater consistency among Old Otter Tail’s note purchase agreements. These amendments include changes to negative covenants in 
the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement regarding limitations on liens and contingent liabilities, and to events of default. As provided in the Fourth 
Amendment, the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement and the 2001 Notes remained obligations of Old Otter Tail, under the name Otter Tail Power 
Company, following the effectiveness of the holding company reorganization. In addition, the guaranties issued by certain subsidiaries of Old 
Otter Tail under the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement and the 2001 Notes were released on the effectiveness of the holding company 
reorganization.  

The 2001 Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, states OTP may prepay all or any part of the notes issued thereunder (in an amount not less 
than 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding in the case of a partial prepayment) at 100% of the principal amount 
prepaid, together with accrued interest and a make-whole amount. The 2001 Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, states in the event of a 
transfer of utility assets put event, the noteholders thereunder have the right to require OTP to repurchase the notes held by them in full, 
together with accrued interest and a make-whole amount, on the terms and conditions specified in the agreement. The 2001 Note Purchase 
Agreement, as amended, contains a number of restrictions on the business of OTP. These include restrictions on the ability of OTP to merge, 
sell assets, create or incur liens on assets, guarantee the obligations of any other party, and engage in transactions with related parties.  

Third Amendment to 2007 Note Purchase Agreement  

On June 26, 2009 Old Otter Tail entered into a Third Amendment dated as of June 26, 2009 to Note Purchase Agreement dated as of 
August 20, 2007 (the Third Amendment) with the holders of the 2007 Notes referred to below, amending the Note Purchase Agreement dated 
as of August 20, 2007 among Old Otter Tail and each of the purchasers party thereto, as amended (the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement). The 
2007 Note Purchase Agreement relates to the issuance and sale by Old Otter Tail of $155 million aggregate principal amount of Old Otter 
Tail’s Senior Unsecured Notes in four series, in the designations and aggregate principal amounts set forth in the 2007 Note Purchase 
Agreement (the 2007 Notes). The Third Amendment sets forth the terms and conditions of the 2007 Noteholders’ consent to the holding 
company reorganization and also amends certain provisions of the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement, both in connection with the holding 
company reorganization and for the purpose of achieving greater consistency among Old Otter Tail’s note purchase agreements. These 
amendments include changes to negative covenants in the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement regarding limitations on liens and subsidiary 
guarantees. As provided in the Third Amendment, the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement and the 2007 Notes remained obligations of Old Otter 
Tail, under the name Otter Tail Power Company, following the effectiveness of the holding company reorganization.  

The 2007 Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, states OTP may prepay all or any part of the notes issued thereunder (in an amount not less 
than 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding in the case of a partial prepayment) at 100% of the principal amount 
prepaid, together with accrued interest and a make-whole amount. The 2007 Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, states OTP must offer to 
prepay all of the outstanding notes issued thereunder at 100% of the principal amount together with unpaid accrued interest in the event of a 
change of control of OTP. The 2007 Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, contains a number of restrictions on the business of OTP. These 
include restrictions on the ability of OTP to merge, sell assets, create or incur liens on assets, guarantee the obligations of any other party, and 
engage in transactions with related parties.  

Amendment No. 2 to Cascade Note Purchase Agreement  

On June 30, 2009 Old Otter Tail entered into an Amendment No. 2 dated as of June 30, 2009 to Note Purchase Agreement dated as of 
February 23, 2007 (Amendment No. 2) with Cascade Investment, L.L.C. (Cascade), amending the Note Purchase Agreement dated as of 
February 23, 2007 between Old Otter Tail and Cascade, as amended (the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement). The Cascade Note Purchase 
Agreement relates to the issuance and sale by Old Otter Tail to Cascade, in a private placement transaction, of Old Otter Tail’s $50,000,000 
5.778% Senior Note due November 30, 2017 (the Cascade Note). Amendment No. 2 sets forth the terms and conditions of Cascade’s consent 
to the assignment by Old Otter Tail of its rights  
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and obligations in, to and under the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement and the Cascade Note to Otter Tail Holding Company, the new parent 
holding company of Old Otter Tail that is now known as Otter Tail Corporation (the Company), effective immediately prior to the 
effectiveness of the holding company reorganization. Amendment No. 2 also provides for Cascade’s consent to the holding company 
reorganization, and amends certain provisions of the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement, both in connection with the holding company 
reorganization and for the purpose of achieving greater consistency among the Company’s note purchase agreements. These amendments 
include changes to negative covenants in the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement regarding limitations on liens, contingent liabilities and to 
events of default. In addition, Amendment No. 2 provides for an additional financial covenant applicable to the Company as of the 
effectiveness of the holding company reorganization. Specifically, the Company may not permit the aggregate principal amount of all debt of 
OTP and its subsidiaries to exceed 60% of Otter Tail Consolidated Total Capitalization (as defined in the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement, 
as amended by Amendment No. 2), determined as of the end of each fiscal quarter of the Company. In addition, the interest rate applicable to 
the Cascade Note was increased to 8.89% per annum which is reflective of the Company’s new senior unsecured debt ratings. The obligations 
of the Company under the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement and the Cascade Note continue to be guaranteed by Varistar Corporation and 
certain of its subsidiaries. As provided in Amendment No. 2, the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement and the Cascade Note became obligations 
of the Company immediately prior to the effectiveness of the holding company reorganization.  

The Cascade Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, states the Company may prepay all or any part of the notes issued thereunder (in an 
amount not less than 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding in the case of a partial prepayment) at 100% of the 
principal amount prepaid, together with accrued interest and a make-whole amount. The Cascade Note Purchase Agreement states in the event 
of a transfer of utility assets put event, the noteholders thereunder have the right to require the Company to repurchase the notes held by them 
in full, together with accrued interest and a make-whole amount, on the terms and conditions specified in the Cascade Note Purchase 
Agreement. The Cascade Note Purchase Agreement contains a number of restrictions on the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
These include restrictions on the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to merge, sell assets, create or incur liens on assets, 
guarantee the obligations of any other party, and engage in transactions with related parties. Following the effectiveness of the holding 
company reorganization, the obligations of the Company under the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement remain guaranteed by Varistar and 
certain of its material subsidiaries (and not by OTP). Cascade owned approximately 9.6% of the Company’s outstanding common stock as of 
December 31, 2009.  

The following table provides a breakdown of the assignment of the Company’s consolidated short-term and long-term debt outstanding as of 
December 31, 2009:  
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                            Otter Tail   
                    Otter Tail     Corporation   
(in thousands)   OTP     Varistar     Corporation     Consolidated   
  

Lines of Credit    $ 1,585             $ 6,000     $ 7,585   
        

Term Loan, Variable 3.73% at December 31, 2009, due May 20, 2011 
(early retired on January 4, 2010)    $ 58,000                     $ 58,000   

Senior Unsecured Notes 6.63%, due December 1, 2011      90,000                       90,000   
Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds, Variable, 3.00% at 

December 31, 2009, due December 1, 2012      10,400                       10,400   
9.000% Notes, due December 15, 2016                    $ 100,000       100,000   
Senior Unsecured Notes 5.95%, Series A, due August 20, 2017      33,000                       33,000   
Grant County, South Dakota Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds 

4.65%, due September 1, 2017      5,125                       5,125   
Senior Unsecured Note 8.89%, due November 30, 2017                      50,000       50,000   
Senior Unsecured Notes 6.15%, Series B, due August 20, 2022      30,000                       30,000   
Mercer County, North Dakota Pollution Control Refunding Revenue 

Bonds 4.85%, due September 1, 2022      20,400                       20,400   
Senior Unsecured Notes 6.37%, Series C, due August 20, 2027      42,000                       42,000   
Senior Unsecured Notes 6.47%, Series D, due August 20, 2037      50,000                       50,000   
Obligations of Varistar Corporation — Various up to 13.31% at 

December 31, 2009            $ 6,684               6,684   
  

Total    $ 338,925     $ 6,684     $ 150,000     $ 495,609   
Less:                                  

Current Maturities      58,000       1,053       —      59,053   
Unamortized Debt Discount      —      380       6       386   

  

Total Long-Term Debt    $ 280,925     $ 5,251     $ 149,994     $ 436,170   
  

Total Short-Term and Long-Term Debt (with current maturities)    $ 340,510     $ 6,304     $ 155,994     $ 502,808   
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The aggregate amounts of maturities on bonds outstanding and other long-term obligations at December 31, 2009 for each of the next five 
years are $59,077,000 for 2010, $90,585,000 for 2011, $10,817,000 for 2012, $786,000 for 2013 and $1,000 for 2014.  

Financial Covenants  

As of December 31, 2009 the Company was in compliance with the financial statement covenants that existed in its debt agreements.  

None of the Credit and Note Purchase Agreements contains any provisions that would trigger an acceleration of the related debt as a result of 
changes in the credit rating levels assigned to the related obligor by rating agencies.  

Following the Company’s holding company reorganization on July 1, 2009: (1) the credit agreement relating to the $200 million revolving 
credit facility originally entered into by Varistar is an obligation of the Company, as assignee of Varistar, and is guaranteed by Varistar and its 
material subsidiaries, (2) the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement is an obligation of the Company, as assignee of Otter Tail Corporation (now 
OTP) prior to the reorganization, and is guaranteed by Varistar and its material subsidiaries, and (3) the credit agreement relating to the 
$170 million revolving credit facility originally entered into by Otter Tail Corporation dba Otter Tail Power Company (now OTP), the 2001 
Note Purchase Agreement and the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement are obligations of OTP.  

Following the Company’s holding company reorganization on July 1, 2009 the Company’s borrowing agreements are subject to certain 
financial covenants. Specifically:  

11. Class B Stock Options of Subsidiary  

In connection with the acquisition of IPH in August 2004, IPH management and certain other employees elected to retain stock options for the 
purchase of IPH Class B common shares valued at $1.8 million. The options are exercisable at any time and the option holder must deliver cash 
to exercise the option. Once the options are exercised for Class B shares, the Class B shareholder cannot put the shares back to the Company 
for 181 days. At that time, the Class B common shares are redeemable at any time during the employment of the individual holder, subject to 
certain limits on the total number of Class B common shares redeemable on an annual basis. The Class B common shares are nonvoting, except 
in the event of a merger, and do not participate in dividends but have liquidation rights at par with the Class A common shares owned by the 
Company. The value of the Class B common shares issued on exercise of the options represents an interest in IPH that changes as defined in 
the agreement. In 2009, 140 options were forfeited as a result of a voluntary termination. As of December 31, 2009 there were 772 options 
outstanding with a combined exercise price of $391,000, of which 732 options were “in-the-money” with a combined exercise price of 
$307,000.  
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  •   Under the credit agreement relating to the $200 million credit facility of the Company (as assignee of Varistar), the Company may not 
permit the ratio of its Interest-bearing Debt to Total Capitalization to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00 or permit its Interest and Dividend 
Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.50 to 1.00 (each measured on a consolidated basis), as provided in the credit agreement. 

  

  •   Under the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement, the Company may not permit its ratio of Consolidated Debt to Consolidated Total 
Capitalization to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00 or its Interest Charges Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.50 to 1.00 (each measured on a 
consolidated basis), permit the ratio of OTP’s Debt to OTP’s Total Capitalization to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00, or permit Priority 
Debt to exceed 20% of Varistar Consolidated Total Capitalization, as provided in the Cascade Note Purchase Agreement. 

  

  •   Under the OTP Credit Agreement, OTP may not permit the ratio of its Interest-bearing Debt to Total Capitalization to be greater than 
0.60 to 1.00 or permit its Interest and Dividend Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.50 to 1.00, as provided in the Loan Agreement. 

  

  •   Under the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement, the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement and the financial guaranty insurance policy with 
Ambac Assurance Corporation relating to certain pollution control refunding bonds, OTP may not permit the ratio of its Consolidated 
Debt to Total Capitalization to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00 or permit its Interest and Dividend Coverage Ratio (or, in the case of the 
2001 Note Purchase Agreement, its Interest Charges Coverage Ratio) to be less than 1.50 to 1.00, in each case as provided in the 
related borrowing or insurance agreement. In addition, under the 2001 Note Purchase Agreement and the 2007 Note Purchase 
Agreement, OTP may not permit its Priority Debt to exceed 20% of its Total Capitalization, as provided in the related agreement. 
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12. Pension Plan and Other Postretirement Benefits  

Pension Plan  

The Company’s noncontributory funded pension plan covers substantially all OTP and corporate employees hired prior to January 1, 2006. The 
plan provides 100% vesting after five vesting years of service and for retirement compensation at age 65, with reduced compensation in cases 
of retirement prior to age 62. The Company reserves the right to discontinue the plan but no change or discontinuance may affect the pensions 
theretofore vested.  

The pension plan has a trustee who is responsible for pension payments to retirees. Six investment managers are responsible for managing the 
plan’s assets. An independent actuary assists the Company in performing the necessary actuarial valuations for the plan.  

The plan assets consist of common stock and bonds of public companies, U.S. government securities, cash and cash equivalents. None of the 
plan assets are invested in common stock, preferred stock or debt securities of the Company.  

Components of net periodic pension benefit cost:  

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the year ended December 31:  

The following table presents amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31:  

Funded status as of December 31:  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008     2007   
  

Service Cost—Benefit Earned During the Period    $ 4,180     $ 4,630     $ 4,837   
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation      11,943       11,325       10,790   
Expected Return on Assets      (13,779 )     (13,968 )     (12,948 ) 
Amortization of Prior-Service Cost      724       742       742   
Amortization of Net Actuarial Loss      77       169       1,091   
  

Net Periodic Pension Cost    $ 3,145     $ 2,898     $ 4,512   
  

                          
    2009     2008     2007   
  

Discount Rate      6.70 %     6.25 %     6.00 % 
Long-Term Rate of Return on Plan Assets      8.50 %     8.50 %     8.50 % 
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation Level      3.75 %     3.75 %     3.75 % 

                  
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Regulatory Assets:                  
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost    $ 2,597     $ 3,303   
Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      69,378       56,652   

  

Total Regulatory Assets      71,975       59,955   
  

                   
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:                  

Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      45       55   
Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      1,199       943   

  

Total Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss      1,244       998   
  

                   
Deferred Income Taxes      829       666   
  

Noncurrent Liability    $ 66,598     $ 55,024   
  

                  
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Accumulated Benefit Obligation    $ (167,195 )   $ (153,676 ) 
  

Projected Benefit Obligation    $ (207,145 )   $ (182,559 ) 
Fair Value of Plan Assets      140,547       127,535   
  

Funded Status    $ (66,598 )   $ (55,024 ) 
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the fair value of plan assets and the plan’s benefit obligations over the two-year 
period ended December 31, 2009:  

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:  

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Company considered the historical returns and the future 
expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio.  

Market-related value of plan assets— The Company’s expected return on plan assets is determined based on the expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets and the market-related value of plan assets.  

The Company bases actuarial determination of pension plan expense or income on a market-related valuation of assets, which reduces year-to-
year volatility. This market-related valuation calculation recognizes investment gains or losses over a five-year period from the year in which 
they occur. Investment gains or losses for this purpose are the difference between the expected return calculated using the market-related value 
of assets and the actual return based on the fair value of assets. Since the market-related valuation calculation recognizes gains or losses over a 
five-year period, the future value of the market-related assets will be impacted as previously deferred gains or losses are recognized.  

The assumed rate of return on pension fund assets for the determination of 2010 net periodic pension cost is 8.50%.  

The estimated amounts of unrecognized net actuarial losses and prior service costs to be amortized from regulatory assets and accumulated 
other comprehensive loss into the net periodic pension cost in 2010 are:  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets:                  
Fair Value of Plan Assets at January 1    $ 127,535     $ 170,935   
Actual Return on Plan Assets      17,886       (36,523 ) 
Discretionary Company Contributions      4,000       2,000   
Benefit Payments      (8,874 )     (8,877 ) 

  

Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31    $ 140,547     $ 127,535   
  

Estimated Asset Return      14.30 %     (21.94 )% 
Reconciliation of Projected Benefit Obligation:                  

Projected Benefit Obligation at January 1    $ 182,559     $ 185,206   
Service Cost      4,180       4,630   
Interest Cost      11,943       11,325   
Benefit Payments      (8,874 )     (8,877 ) 
Actuarial Loss (Gain)      17,337       (9,725 ) 

  

Projected Benefit Obligation at December 31    $ 207,145     $ 182,559   
  

                  
      2009       2008   
  

Discount Rate      6.00 %     6.70 % 
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation Level      3.75 %     3.75 % 

          
Measurement Dates:   2009   2008 
  

Net Periodic Pension Cost    January 1, 2009   January 1, 2008 
           
End of Year Benefit Obligations  

  
January 1, 2009 projected to 

December 31, 2009   
January 1, 2008 projected to 

December 31, 2008 
           
Market Value of Assets    December 31, 2009   December 31, 2008 

          
(in thousands)   2010   
Decrease in Regulatory Assets:          

Amortization of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost    $ 664   
Amortization of Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      1,963   

Decrease in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:          
Amortization of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      19   
Amortization of Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      57   

  

Total Estimated Amortization    $ 2,703   
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Cash flows— The Company is not required to make a contribution to the pension plan in 2010.  

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid out from plan assets:  

The Company’s pension plan asset allocations at December 31, 2009 and 2008, by asset category are as follows:  

The following objectives guide the investment strategy of the Company’s pension plan (the Plan):  

The asset allocation strategy developed by the Company’s Retirement Plans Administrative Committee is based on the current needs of the 
Plan, the investment objectives listed above, the investment preferences and risk tolerance of the committee and a desired degree of 
diversification.  

The asset allocation strategy contains guideline percentages, at market value, of the total Plan invested in various asset classes. The strategic 
target allocation and the tactical range shown in the table that follows is a guide that will at times not be reflected in actual asset allocations that 
may be dictated by prevailing market conditions, independent actions of the Retirement Plans Administrative Committee (RPAC) and/or 
investment managers, and required cash flows to and from the Plan. The tactical range provides flexibility for the investment managers’ 
portfolios to vary around the target allocation without the need for immediate rebalancing.  

Allocation targets and tactical ranges shown below reflect the revised Investment Policy Statement recently approved by the RPAC. Each of 
the asset categories is within its respective tactical range. The RPAC monitors actual asset allocations and directs contributions and 
withdrawals toward maintaining the current targeted allocation percentages listed below.  
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                                            Years   
(in thousands)   2010     2011     2012     2013     2014     2015-2019   
  

     $ 9,414     $ 9,772     $ 10,147     $ 10,590     $ 11,027     $ 67,340   

                  
Asset Allocation     2009       2008   
  

Large Capitalization Equity Securities      32.0 %     39.6 % 
Small/Mid Capitalization Equity Securities      13.5 %     9.2 % 
International Equity Securities      20.2 %     8.3 % 
  

Total Equity Securities      65.7 %     57.1 % 
Cash and Fixed-Income Securities      34.3 %     42.9 % 
  

       100.0 %     100.0 % 
  

  •   The Plan is managed to operate in perpetuity. 
  

  •   The Plan will meet the pension benefit obligation payments of the Company. 
  

  •   The Plan’s assets should be invested with the objective of meeting current and future payment requirements while minimizing annual 
contributions and their volatility. 

  

  •   The asset strategy reflects the desire to meet current and future benefit payments while considering a prudent level of risk and 
diversification. 

                  
Asset Allocation     Strategic Target   Tactical Range   
  

Large Capitalization Equity Securities      30 %     20%-40 % 
Small/Mid Capitalization Equity Securities      12 %     6%-22 % 
International Equity Securities      18 %     10%-30 % 
  

Total Equity Securities      60 %     45%-75 % 
Cash and Fixed-Income Securities      40 %     20%-50 % 
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Executive Survivor and Supplemental Retirement Plan (ESSRP)  

The ESSRP is an unfunded, nonqualified benefit plan for executive officers and certain key management employees. The ESSRP provides 
defined benefit payments to these employees on their retirements for life or to their beneficiaries on their deaths for a 15-year postretirement 
period. Life insurance carried on certain plan participants is payable to the Company on the employee’s death. There are no plan assets in this 
nonqualified benefit plan due to the nature of the plan.  

Components of net periodic pension benefit cost:  

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the year ended December 31:  

The following table presents amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31:  

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the fair value of plan assets and the plan’s projected benefit obligations over the 
two-year period ended December 31, 2009 and a statement of the funded status as of December 31 of both years:  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008     2007   
  

Service Cost—Benefit Earned During the Period    $ 752     $ 691     $ 626   
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation      1,694       1,535       1,451   
Amortization of Prior-Service Cost      71       66       67   
Amortization of Net Actuarial Loss      385       480       540   
  

Net Periodic Pension Cost    $ 2,902     $ 2,772     $ 2,684   
  

                          
    2009     2008     2007   
  

Discount Rate      6.70 %     6.25 %     6.00 % 
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation Level      4.70 %     4.70 %     4.71 % 

                  
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Regulatory Assets:                  
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost    $ 389     $ 421   
Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      4,433       4,114   

  

Total Regulatory Assets      4,822       4,535   
  

Projected Benefit Obligation Liability — Net Amount Recognized      (28,441 )     (25,888 ) 
  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:                  
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      167       166   
Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      1,910       1,626   

  

Total Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss      2,077       1,792   
  

Deferred Income Taxes      1,385       1,194   
  

Cumulative Employer Contributions in Excess of Net Periodic Benefit Cost    $ (20,157 )   $ (18,367 ) 
  

                  
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets:                  
Fair Value of Plan Assets at January 1    $ —    $ —  
Actual Return on Plan Assets      —      —  
Employer Contributions      1,112       1,067   
Benefit Payments      (1,112 )     (1,067 ) 

  

Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31    $ —    $ —  
  

Reconciliation of Projected Benefit Obligation:                  
Projected Benefit Obligation at January 1    $ 25,888     $ 25,158   
Service Cost      752       691   
Interest Cost      1,694       1,535   
Benefit Payments      (1,112 )     (1,067 ) 
Plan Amendments      41       63   
Actuarial Loss (Gain)      1,178       (492 ) 

  

Projected Benefit Obligation at December 31    $ 28,441     $ 25,888   
  

Reconciliation of Funded Status:                  
Funded Status at December 31    $ (28,441 )   $ (25,888 ) 
Unrecognized Net Actuarial Loss      7,616       6,823   
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      668       698   

  

Cumulative Employer Contributions in Excess of Net Periodic Benefit Cost    $ (20,157 )   $ (18,367 ) 
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:  

The estimated amounts of unrecognized net actuarial losses and prior service costs to be amortized from regulatory assets and accumulated 
other comprehensive loss into the net periodic pension cost for the ESSRP in 2010 are:  

Cash flows— The ESSRP is unfunded and has no assets; contributions are equal to the benefits paid to plan participants. The following benefit 
payments, which reflect future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:  

Other Postretirement Benefits  

The Company provides a portion of health insurance and life insurance benefits for retired OTP and corporate employees. Substantially all of 
the Company’s electric utility and corporate employees may become eligible for health insurance benefits if they reach age 55 and have 
10 years of service. On adoption of SFAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions , in January 1993, 
the Company elected to recognize its transition obligation related to postretirement benefits earned of approximately $14,964,000 over a period 
of 20 years. There are no plan assets.  

Components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost:  

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the year ended December 31:  
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    2009     2008   
  

Discount Rate      6.00 %     6.70 % 
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation Level      4.71 %     4.70 % 

          
(in thousands)   2010   
  

Decrease in Regulatory Assets:          
Amortization of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost    $ 43   
Amortization of Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      278   

Decrease in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:          
Amortization of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      31   
Amortization of Unrecognized Actuarial Loss      199   

  

Total Estimated Amortization    $ 551   
  

                                                  
                                            Years   
(in thousands)   2010     2011     2012     2013     2014     2015-2019   
  

     $ 1,114     $ 1,224     $ 1,279     $ 1,268     $ 1,274     $ 7,729   

                          
(in thousands)   2009     2008     2007   
  

Service Cost—Benefit Earned During the Period    $ 1,172     $ 1,103     $ 1,098   
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation      2,935       2,689       2,565   
Amortization of Transition Obligation      748       748       748   
Amortization of Prior-Service Cost      211       211       (206 ) 
Amortization of Net Actuarial Loss      —      26       177   
Expense Decrease Due to Medicare Part D Subsidy      (1,335 )     (1,172 )     (1,233 ) 
  

Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost    $ 3,731     $ 3,605     $ 3,149   
  

                          
      2009       2008       2007   
  

Discount Rate      6.70 %     6.25 %     6.00 % 
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The following table presents amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31:  

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the fair value of plan assets and the plan’s projected benefit obligations and 
accrued postretirement benefit cost over the two-year period ended December 31, 2009:  

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:  

Assumed healthcare cost-trend rates as of December 31:  
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(in thousands)   2009     2008   

  Regulatory Asset: 
Unrecognized Transition Obligation    $ 1,093     $ 1,454   
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      1,361       1,567   
Unrecognized Net Actuarial Gain      (379 )     (3,855 ) 

  

Net Regulatory Asset (Liability)      2,075       (834 ) 
  

Projected Benefit Obligation Liability — Net Amount Recognized      (37,712 )     (32,621 ) 
  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:                  
Unrecognized Transition Obligation      691       923   
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      24       26   
Unrecognized Net Actuarial Gain      (7 )     (64 ) 

  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss      708       885   
  

Deferred Income Taxes      472       590   
  

Cumulative Employer Contributions in Excess of Net Periodic Benefit Cost    $ (34,457 )   $ (31,980 ) 
  

                  
(in thousands)   2009     2008   
  

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets:                  
Fair Value of Plan Assets at January 1    $ —    $ —  
Actual Return on Plan Assets      —      —  
Company Contributions      1,254       1,577   
Benefit Payments (Net of Medicare Part D Subsidy)      (3,113 )     (3,392 ) 
Participant Premium Payments      1,859       1,815   

  

Fair Value of Plan Assets at December 31    $ —    $ —  
  

Reconciliation of Projected Benefit Obligation:                  
Projected Benefit Obligation at January 1    $ 32,621     $ 30,488   
Service Cost (Net of Medicare Part D Subsidy)      960       902   
Interest Cost (Net of Medicare Part D Subsidy)      2,027       1,874   
Benefit Payments (Net of Medicare Part D Subsidy)      (3,113 )     (3,392 ) 
Participant Premium Payments      1,859       1,815   
Actuarial Loss      3,358       934   

  

Projected Benefit Obligation at December 31    $ 37,712     $ 32,621   
  

Reconciliation of Accrued Postretirement Cost:                  
Accrued Postretirement Cost at January 1    $ (31,980 )   $ (29,952 ) 
Expense      (3,731 )     (3,605 ) 
Net Company Contribution      1,254       1,577   

  

Accrued Postretirement Cost at December 31    $ (34,457 )   $ (31,980 ) 
  

                  
      2009       2008   
  

Discount Rate      5.75 %     6.70 % 

                  
      2009       2008   
  

Healthcare Cost-Trend Rate Assumed for Next Year Pre-65      7.10 %     7.40 % 
Healthcare Cost-Trend Rate Assumed for Next Year Post-65      7.63 %     8.00 % 
Rate at Which the Cost-Trend Rate is Assumed to Decline      5.00 %     5.00 % 
Year the Rate Reaches the Ultimate Trend Rate      2025       2017   
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Assumed healthcare cost-trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for healthcare plans. A one-percentage-point change in 
assumed healthcare cost-trend rates for 2009 would have the following effects:  

The estimated net amounts of unrecognized transition obligation and prior service costs to be amortized from regulatory assets and 
accumulated other comprehensive loss into the net periodic postretirement benefit cost in 2010 are:  

Cash flows— The Company expects to contribute $2.3 million net of expected employee contributions for the payment of retiree medical 
benefits and Medicare Part D subsidy receipts in 2010. The Company expects to receive a Medicare Part D subsidy from the Federal 
government of approximately $504,000 in 2010. The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are 
expected to be paid:  

Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan  

The Company has a leveraged employee stock ownership plan for the benefit of all its electric utility employees. Contributions made by the 
Company were $761,000 for 2009, $738,000 for 2008 and $733,000 for 2007.  
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(in thousands)   1 point increase     1 point decrease   
  

Effect on the Postretirement Benefit Obligation    $ 3,727     $ (3,188 ) 
Effect on Total of Service and Interest Cost    $ 365     $ (302 ) 
Effect on Expense    $ 579     $ (556 ) 
  

          
Measurement dates:   2009   2008 
  

Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost    January 1, 2009   January 1, 2008 
           
End of Year Benefit Obligations  

  

January 1, 2009 
projected to 

December 31, 
2009   

January 1, 2008 
projected to 

December 31, 
2008 

          
(in thousands)   2010   
  

Decrease in Regulatory Assets:          
Amortization of Transition Obligation    $ 364   
Amortization of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      204   
Amortization of Unrecognized Actuarial Gain      —  

Decrease in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:          
Amortization of Transition Obligation      384   
Amortization of Unrecognized Prior Service Cost      6   
Amortization of Unrecognized Actuarial Gain      —  

  

Total Estimated Amortization    $ 958   
  

                                                  
                                            Years   
(in thousands)   2010     2011     2012     2013     2014     2015-2019   
  

  $ 2,321     $ 2,456     $ 2,554     $ 2,671     $ 2,856     $ 16,127   
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13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to 
estimate that value:  

Cash and Short-Term Investments —The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of those instruments.  

Long-Term Debt —The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on the current rates available to the Company for the 
issuance of debt. About $68.4 million of the Company’s long-term debt, which is subject to variable interest rates, approximates fair value.  

14. Property, Plant and Equipment  

The estimated service lives for rate-regulated properties is 5 to 65 years. For nonelectric property the estimated useful lives are from 3 to 
40 years.  
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    December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 
    Carrying           Carrying     
(in thousands)   Amount   Fair Value   Amount   Fair Value 
  

Cash and Short-Term Investments    $ 4,432     $ 4,432     $ 7,565     $ 7,565   
Long-Term Debt      (436,170 )     (457,907 )     (339,726 )     (308,283 ) 
  

                  
    December 31,   December 31, 
(in thousands)   2009   2008 
  

Electric Plant                  
Production    $ 660,654     $ 590,252   
Transmission      216,508       201,456   
Distribution      357,623       337,296   
General      78,230       76,643   

  

Electric Plant      1,313,015       1,205,647   
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization      446,008       421,177   
  

Electric Plant Net of Accumulated Depreciation      867,007       784,470   
Construction Work in Progress      11,104       25,547   
  

Net Electric Plant    $ 878,111     $ 810,017   
  

Nonelectric Operations Plant                  
Equipment    $ 244,419     $ 220,985   
Buildings and Leasehold Improvements      96,899       80,281   
Land      20,770       19,766   

  

Nonelectric Operations Plant      362,088       321,032   
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization      153,831       126,893   
  

Nonelectric Plant Net of Accumulated Depreciation      208,257       194,139   
Construction Work in Progress      12,259       33,413   
  

Net Nonelectric Operations Plant    $ 220,516     $ 227,552   
  

Net Plant    $ 1,098,627     $ 1,037,569   
  

          
    Service Life Range 
(years)   Low   High 
  

Electric Fixed Assets:          
Production Plant    34   62 
Transmission Plant    40   55 
Distribution Plant    15   55 
General Plant    5   65 

Nonelectric Fixed Assets:          
Equipment    3   12 
Buildings and Leasehold Improvements    7   40 
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15. Income Taxes  

The total income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the federal income tax rate (35% in 2009, 2008 and 2007) to net 
income before total income tax expense for the following reasons:  

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were composed of the following on December 31:  
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(in thousands)   2009   2008   2007 
  

Tax Computed at Federal Statutory Rate    $ 7,499     $ 17,556     $ 28,675   
Increases (Decreases) in Tax from:                          

State Income Taxes Net of Federal Income Tax Benefit      1,871       2,608       2,934   
Differences Reversing in Excess of Federal Rates      893       1,089       929   
Federal Production Tax Credit      (6,533 )     (3,234 )     (3 ) 
Tax Depreciation — Treasury Grant for Wind Farms      (3,169 )     —      —  
Allowance for Funds Used During Construction — Equity      (1,113 )     (975 )     7   
Investment Tax Credit Amortization      (992 )     (1,125 )     (1,137 ) 
Corporate Owned Life Insurance      (973 )     814       (507 ) 
North Dakota Wind Tax Credit Amortization — Net of Federal Taxes      (870 )     (369 )     (21 ) 
Dividend Received/Paid Deduction      (683 )     (718 )     (714 ) 
Affordable Housing Tax Credits      (25 )     (55 )     (285 ) 
Section 199 Domestic Production Activities Deduction      —      —      (1,159 ) 
Permanent and Other Differences      (510 )     (554 )     (751 ) 

  

Total Income Tax Expense    $ (4,605 )   $ 15,037     $ 27,968   
  

Overall Effective Federal and State Income Tax Rate      (21.5 )%     30.0 %     34.1 % 
Income Tax Expense Includes the Following:                          

Current Federal Income Taxes    $ (41,328 )   $ (20,011 )   $ 23,199   
Current State Income Taxes      3,492       (1,115 )     2,371   
Deferred Federal Income Taxes      42,470       39,051       2,832   
Deferred State Income Taxes      (571 )     5,280       2,116   
Federal Production Tax Credit      (6,533 )     (3,234 )     (3 ) 
Investment Tax Credit Amortization      (992 )     (1,125 )     (1,137 ) 
North Dakota Wind Tax Credit Amortization — Net of Federal Taxes      (870 )     (369 )     (21 ) 
Foreign Income Taxes      (248 )     (3,385 )     (1,104 ) 
Affordable Housing Tax Credits      (25 )     (55 )     (285 ) 

  

Total    $ (4,605 )   $ 15,037     $ 27,968   
  

                  
(in thousands)   2009   2008 
  

Deferred Tax Assets                  
Related to North Dakota Wind Tax Credits    $ 58,191     $ 35,902   
Benefit Liabilities      36,329       32,932   
ASC 715 Liabilities      24,946       9,650   
Cost of Removal      23,253       22,920   
Net Operating Loss Carryforward      12,757       6,379   
Differences Related to Property      11,445       10,300   
Federal Production Tax Credits      6,533       —  
Amortization of Tax Credits      4,966       4,946   
Vacation Accrual      2,872       3,003   
Other      5,940       5,619   

  

Total Deferred Tax Assets    $ 187,232     $ 131,651   
  

Deferred Tax Liabilities                  
Differences Related to Property    $ (269,718 )   $ (212,419 ) 
ASC 715 Regulatory Asset      (24,946 )     (9,650 ) 
Related to North Dakota Wind Tax Credits      (16,116 )     (10,074 ) 
Transfer to Regulatory Asset      (5,808 )     (7,093 ) 
Excess Tax over Book Pension      (2,969 )     (2,599 ) 
Renewable Resource Rider Accrued Revenue      (2,300 )     —  
Impact of State Net Operating Losses on Federal Taxes      (2,060 )     —  
Other      (7,164 )     (4,516 ) 

  

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities    $ (331,081 )   $ (246,351 ) 
  

Deferred Income Taxes    $ (143,849 )   $ (114,700 ) 
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The amounts of unused North Dakota wind energy tax credits being carried forward for North Dakota tax purposes as of December 31, 2009 
are: $10.2 million which will fully expire in 2017, $17.7 million which will fully expire in 2032, and $15.4 million which will fully expire in 
2033. The tax effect of net operating losses being carried forward for North Dakota tax purposes as of December 31, 2009 was $4.0 million, of 
which $1.4 million expire in 2029 and $2.6 million expire in 2030. The tax effect of net operating losses being carried forward for Minnesota 
tax purposes as of December 31, 2009 was $2.1 million which expire in 2024.  

The following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits:  

The balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2009 would reduce our effective tax rate if recognized. The total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2009 is not expected to change significantly within the next 12 months. The Company and its 
subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and various state and foreign income tax returns. As of December 31, 2009 the 
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2006. As of December 31, 2009 the 
Company’s earliest open tax year in which an audit can be initiated by state taxing authorities in the Company’s major operating jurisdictions is 
2005 for Minnesota and 2006 for North Dakota. The Company classifies interest and penalties on tax uncertainties as components of the 
provision for income taxes. Amounts accrued for interest and penalties on tax uncertainties as of December 31, 2009 were not material.  

16. Asset Retirement Obligations (AROs)  

The Company’s AROs are related to OTP’s coal-fired generation plants and its 92 wind turbines located in North Dakota. The AROs include 
site restoration, closure of ash pits, and removal of storage tanks, structures, generators and asbestos. The Company has legal obligations 
associated with the retirement of a variety of other long-lived tangible assets used in electric operations where the estimated settlement costs 
are individually and collectively immaterial. The Company has no assets legally restricted for the settlement of any of its AROs.  

During 2009, OTP recorded new obligations related to the removal of 33 wind turbines and restoration of its tower sites located at the Luverne 
Wind Farm in Steele County, North Dakota, and for future renovations of areas currently occupied by various water treatment sludge ponds at 
the Big Stone Plant site. OTP determined the fair value of its future obligations related to the removal of its 33 wind turbines located at the 
Luverne Wind Farm by engaging an outside engineering firm with expertise in demolition and removal to provide an estimate of the current 
costs to remove these assets, then projected the costs forward to 2034 using an inflation rate of 2.9% per year and discounted this amount back 
to its present value using a credit adjusted risk free rate of 8.3%. OTP determined the fair value of its future obligations for future renovations 
of areas currently occupied by various water treatment sludge ponds by conducting an internal assessment incorporating the services of a local 
contractor to estimate the current cost to renovate these areas. OTP then projected the costs forward to 2024 using an inflation rate of 2.7% per 
year and discounted this amount back to its present value using a credit adjusted risk free rate of 8.75%.  

During 2008, OTP recorded new obligations related to the removal of 32 wind turbines and restoration of its tower sites located at the 
Ashtabula Wind Energy Center in Barnes County, North Dakota and made revisions to previously recorded obligations related to site 
restoration, closure of ash pits, and removal of storage tanks, structures, generators and asbestos at its coal-fired generation plants. OTP 
determined the fair value of its future obligations related to the removal of 32 wind turbines located at the Ashtabula Wind Energy Center by 
engaging an outside engineering firm with expertise in demolition and removal to provide an estimate of the current costs to remove these 
assets, then projected the costs forward to 2033 using an inflation rate of 3.1% per year and discounted this amount back to its present value 
using a credit adjusted risk free rate of 9.0%.  
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(in thousands)   Total 
  

Balance at January 1, 2009    $ 284   
Increases Related to Tax Positions      900   
Uncertain Positions Resolved in 2009      (284 ) 
  

Balance at December 31, 2009    $ 900   
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Reconciliations of carrying amounts of the present value of the Company’s legal AROs, capitalized asset retirement costs and related 
accumulated depreciation and a summary of settlement activity for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are presented in the following 
table:  

Quarterly Information (not audited)  

Because of changes in the number of common shares outstanding and the impact of diluted shares, the sum of the quarterly earnings per 
common share may not equal total earnings per common share.  
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(in thousands)   2009   2008 
  

Asset Retirement Obligations                  
Beginning Balance    $ 3,298     $ 2,447   
New Obligations Recognized      436       317   
Adjustments Due to Revisions in Cash Flow Estimates      —      407   
Accrued Accretion      316       127   
Settlements      —      —  

  

Ending Balance    $ 4,050     $ 3,298   
  

Asset Retirement Costs Capitalized                  
Beginning Balance    $ 1,061     $ 1,309   
New Obligations Recognized      436       317   
Adjustments Due to Revisions in Cash Flow Estimates      —      (565 ) 
Settlements      —      —  

  

Ending Balance    $ 1,497     $ 1,061   
  

Accumulated Depreciation — Asset Retirement Costs Capitalized                  
Beginning Balance    $ 179     $ 185   
New Obligations Recognized      —      —  
Adjustments Due to Revisions in Cash Flow Estimates      —      (34 ) 
Accrued Depreciation      54       28   
Settlements      —      —  

  

Ending Balance    $ 233     $ 179   
  

Settlements                  
Original Capitalized Asset Retirement Cost — Retired    $ —    $ —  
Accumulated Depreciation      —      —  

  
Asset Retirement Obligation    $ —    $ —  
Settlement Cost      —      —  

  

Gain on Settlement — Deferred Under Regulatory Accounting    $ —    $ —  
  

                                                                  
Three Months Ended   March 31   June 30   September 30   December 31 
(in thousands, except per share data)   2009   2008   2009   2008   2009   2008   2009   2008 
  

Operating Revenues    $ 277,239     $ 300,237     $ 246,857     $ 323,600     $ 257,440     $ 352,919     $ 257,976     $ 334,441   
Operating Income      8,609       17,097       6,180       10,303       17,496       19,746       13,105       25,846   
Net Income      4,388       8,230       2,731       3,517       10,592       9,631       8,320       13,747   
Earnings Available for 

Common Shares      4,204       8,046       2,547       3,333       10,408       9,447       8,136       13,563   
Basic Earnings Per Share    $ .12     $ .27     $ .07     $ .11     $ .29     $ .31     $ .23     $ .38   
Diluted Earnings Per Share    $ .12     $ .27     $ .07     $ .11     $ .29     $ .31     $ .23     $ .38   
Dividends Paid Per Common 

Share    $ .2975     $ .2975     $ .2975     $ .2975     $ .2975     $ .2975     $ .2975     $ .2975   
Price Range:                                                                  

High      24.50       35.68       24.05       40.98       25.40       46.15       25.34       30.84   
Low      15.47       31.28       18.63       34.93       20.73       29.71       22.37       14.99   

Average Number of Common 
Shares Outstanding—
Basic      35,325       29,818       35,389       29,993       35,528       30,514       35,611       35,311   

Average Number of Common 
Shares Outstanding—
Diluted      35,489       30,062       35,644       30,300       35,788       30,817       35,866       35,516   
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

Evaluation of Disclosures Controls and Procedures . Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, the Company evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of 
its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act)) as of 
December 31, 2009, the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2009.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting . There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2009 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Management’s Report Regarding Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of 
the consolidated financial statements and representations in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Company have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis and include some 
amounts that are based on informed judgments and best estimates and assumptions of management.  

In order to assure the consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in 
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). These internal controls are designed only to provide reasonable assurance, on a cost-effective basis, that 
transactions are carried out in accordance with management’s authorizations and assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or 
disposition.  

Management has completed its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2009. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework to conduct the required assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2009, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte 
& Touche LLP, has audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and issued an 
attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . The attestation report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s 
independent registered public accounting firm, regarding the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is provided on Page 67.  

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION  

None.  
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PART III  

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE  

The information required by this Item regarding Directors is incorporated by reference to the information under “Election of Directors” in the 
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting. The information regarding executive officers and family relationships is 
set forth in Item 3A hereto. The information regarding Section 16 reporting is incorporated by reference to the information under “Security 
Ownership of Directors and Officers — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy 
Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting. The information required by this Item regarding the Company’s procedures for recommending 
nominees to the Board of Directors is incorporated by reference to the information under “Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors 
— Corporate Governance Committee” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting. The information required by 
this Item in regards to the Audit Committee is incorporated by reference to the information under “Meetings and Committees of the Board of 
Directors — Audit Committee” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting. The information regarding the 
Company’s Audit Committee financial experts is incorporated by reference to the information under “Meetings and Committees of the Board 
— Audit Committee” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting.  

The Company has adopted a code of conduct that applies to all of its directors, officers (including its principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer, and its principal accounting officer or controller or person performing similar functions) and employees. The Company’s code 
of conduct is available on its website at www.ottertail.com. The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of 
Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of its code of conduct by posting such information on its website at the 
address specified above. Information on the Company’s website is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.  

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Report 
of Compensation Committee,” “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 
2010 Annual Meeting.  
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED  
                STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

The information required by this Item regarding security ownership is incorporated by reference to the information under “Outstanding Voting 
Shares” and “Security Ownership of Directors and Officers” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting.  

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION  

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2009 about the Company’s common stock that may be issued under all of its 
equity compensation plans:  

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under “Policy and Procedures Regarding Transactions 
with Related Persons” and “Election of Directors” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting.  

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under “Ratification of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm — Fees” and “Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Pre-Approval of Audit/Non-Audit Services 
Policy” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting.  

119  

                          
                    Number of   
                    securities   
                    remaining available   
    Number of             for future issuance   
    securities to be             under equity   
    issued upon     Weighted-average     compensation plans   
    exercise of     exercise price of     (excluding   
    outstanding     outstanding     securities   
    options, warrants     options, warrants     reflected in   
    and rights     and rights     column a))   
Plan Category   (a)     (b)     (c)   
  

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:                          
1999 Stock Incentive Plan      962,452 (1)   $ 12.40       822,317 (2) 
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan      —      N/A       230,482 (3) 

  
  

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders      —      —      —  
  

  

Total      962,452     $ 12.40       1,052,799   
  

  

(1)   Includes 181,200, 114,800, and 109,000 performance based share awards made in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, 92,670 restricted 
stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2009, and 19,972 phantom shares as part of the deferred director compensation program and 
excludes 104,778 shares of restricted stock issued under the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan. 

  

(2)   The 1999 Stock Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of any shares available under the plan in the form of restricted stock, 
performance awards and other types of stock-based awards, in addition to the granting of options, warrants or stock appreciation rights. 

  

(3)   Shares are issued based on employee’s election to participate in the plan. 
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PART IV  

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES   
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  (a)   List of documents filed as part of this report: 
  

  1.   Financial Statements 
          
    Page   
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm      67   
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Three Year Ended December 31, 2009      68   
Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2009 and 2008      69   
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’  Equity and Comprehensive Income for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2009      71   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2009      72   
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization, December 31, 2009 and 2008      73   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements      74   

  2.   Financial Statement Schedules 
  

      Schedules are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required, because the amounts are insignificant or 
because the information required is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto. 

  

  3.   Exhibits 
  

      The following Exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this report. 
                      
        Previously Filed 
        File No.   As Exhibit No . 

  2-A   

  

8-K filed 7/1/09 

  

  2.1   

  

—Plan of Merger, dated as of June 30, 2009, by and among Otter Tail Corporation (now 
known as Otter Tail Power Company), Otter Tail Holding Company (now known as Otter 
Tail Corporation) and Otter Tail Merger Sub Inc.  

                       
  3-A     8-K filed 7/1/09     3.1     —Restated Articles of Incorporation.  
                       
  3-B     8-K filed 7/1/09     3.2     —Restated Bylaws.  
                       
  4-A-1   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/01   

  4-D-7   
  
—Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2001.  

                       
  4-A-2   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/02   

  4-D-4   
  
—First Amendment, dated as of December 1, 2002, to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2001.  

                       
  4-A-3   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 9/30/04   

  4.2   
  
—Second Amendment, dated as of October 1, 2004, to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2001.  

                       
  4-A-4   

  
8-K filed 12/20/07 

  
  4.2   

  
—Third Amendment, dated as of December 1, 2007, to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2001.  

                       
  4-A-5   

  
8-K filed 7/01/09 

  
  4.1   

  
—Fourth Amendment, dated as of June 30, 2009, to Note Purchase Agreement dated as of 
December 1, 2001.  

                       
  4-B   

  

8-K filed 8/01/08 

  

  4.1   

  

—Credit Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2008, among Otter Tail Corporation, dba Otter Tail 
Power Company (now known as Otter Tail Power Company), the Banks named therein, Bank 
of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and U.S. Bank National Association, as agent for the 
Banks.  
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  4-B-1   
  
8-K filed 4/24/09 

  
  4.2   —First Amendment, dated as of April 21, 2009, to Credit Agreement, dated as of 

July 30, 2008.  
                       
  4-C   

  
8-K filed 2/28/07 

  
  4.1   —Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2007, between the Company and 

Cascade Investment L.L.C.  
                       
  4-C-1   

  
8-K filed 7/01/09 

  
  4.3   —Amendment No. 2, dated as of June 30, 2009, to Note Purchase Agreement, dated as 

of February 23, 2007.  
                       
  4-D     8-K filed 8/23/07     4.1   —Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2007.  
                       
  4-D-1   

  
8-K filed 12/20/07 

  
  4.3   —First Amendment, dated as of December 14, 2007, to Note Purchase Agreement, 

dated as of August 20, 2007.  
                       
  4-D-2   

  
8-K filed 9/15/08 

  
  4.1   —Second Amendment, dated as of September 11, 2008, to Note Purchase Agreement, 

dated as of August 20, 2007  
                       
  4-D-3   

  
8-K filed 7/01/09 

  
  4.2   —Third Amendment, dated as of June 26, 2009, to Note Purchase Agreement dated as 

of August 20, 2007.  
                       
  4-E   

  

8-K filed 12/30/08 

  

  4.1   —Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2008 among the 
Company (as assignee of Varistar Corporation), the Banks named therein, U.S. Bank 
National Association, as agent for the Banks and as Lead Arranger, and Bank of 
America, N.A., Keybank National Association, and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association, as Co-Documentation Agents.  

                       
  4-E-1   

  
8-K filed 4/24/09 

  
  4.1   —First Amendment, dated as of April 21, 2009, to Credit Agreement, dated as of 

December 23, 2008.  
                       
  4-F   

  

8-K filed 5/29/09 

  

  4.1   —Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2009, among Otter Tail Corporation, 
d/b/a Otter Tail Power Company (now known as Otter Tail Power Company), 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Keybank National 
Association, as Syndication Agent, Union Bank, N.A., as Documentation Agent, and 
the Banks named therein.  

                       
  4-G   

  

8-K filed 11/18/97 

  

  4-D-11   —Indenture (For Unsecured Debt Securities) dated as of November 1, 1997 between 
the registrant and U.S. Bank National Association (formerly First Trust National 
Association), as Trustee.  

                       
  4-G-1   

  
8-K filed 7/1/09 

  
  4.1   —First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2009, to the Indenture (For 

Unsecured Debt Securities) dated as of November 1, 1997.  
                       
  4-G-2   

  

8-K filed 12/4/09 

  

  4.1   —Officer’s Certificate and Authentication Order, dated December 4, 2009, for the 
9.000% Notes due 2016 (which includes the form of Note) issued pursuant to the 
Indenture (For Unsecured Debt Securities) dated as of November 1, 1997 and the 
First Supplemental Indenture thereto, dated as of July 1, 2009.  

                       
  10-A   

  
2-39794 

  
  4-C   —Integrated Transmission Agreement, dated August 25, 1967, between Cooperative 

Power Association and the Company.  
                       
  10-A-1   

  

10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92 

  

  10-A-1   —Amendment No. 1, dated as of September 6, 1979, to Integrated Transmission 
Agreement, dated as of August 25, 1967, between Cooperative Power Association 
and the Company.  
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  10-A-2   
  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-A-2   —Amendment No. 2, dated as of November 19, 1986, to Integrated Transmission 
Agreement between Cooperative Power Association and the Company.  

                       
  10-C-1   

  
2-55813 

  
  5-E   —Contract dated July 1, 1958, between Central Power Electric Corporation, Inc., and 

the Company.  
                       
  10-C-2   

  
2-55813 

  
  5-E-1   —Supplement Seven dated November 21, 1973. (Supplements Nos. One through Six 

have been superseded and are no longer in effect.)  
                       
  10-C-3     2-55813     5-E-2   —Amendment No. 1 dated December 19, 1973, to Supplement Seven.  
                       
  10-C-4   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/91   

  10-C-4   —Amendment No. 2 dated June 17, 1986, to Supplement Seven.  

                       
  10-C-5   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-C-5   —Amendment No. 3 dated June 18, 1992, to Supplement Seven.  

                       
  10-C-6   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/93   

  10-C-6   —Amendment No. 4 dated January 18, 1994 to Supplement Seven.  

                       
  10-D     2-55813     5-F   —Contract dated April 12, 1973, between the Bureau of Reclamation and the Company. 
                       
  10-E-1   

  
2-55813 

  
  5-G   —Contract dated January 8, 1973, between East River Electric Power Cooperative and 

the Company.  
                       
  10-E-2     2-62815     5-E-1   —Supplement One dated February 20, 1978.  
                       
  10-E-3   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/89   

  10-E-3   —Supplement Two dated June 10, 1983.  

                       
  10-E-4   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/90   

  10-E-4   —Supplement Three dated June 6, 1985.  

                       
  10-E-5   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-E-5   —Supplement No. Four, dated as of September 10, 1986.  

                       
  10-E-6   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-E-6   —Supplement No. Five, dated as of January 7, 1993.  

                       
  10-E-7   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/93   

  10-E-7   —Supplement No. Six, dated as of December 2, 1993  

                       
  10-F   

  

10-K for year  
ended 12/31/89 

  

  10-F   —Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Generating Plant by and between the Company, 
Montana-Dakota Utilities Co., and Northwestern Public Service Company (dated as 
of January 7, 1970).  

                       
  10-F-1   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/89   

  10-F-1   —Letter of Intent for purchase of share of Big Stone Plant from Northwestern Public 
Service Company (dated as of May 8, 1984).  

                       
  10-F-2   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/91   

  10-F-2   —Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Big Stone 
Plant (dated as of July 1, 1983).  

                       
  10-F-3   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/91   

  10-F-3   —Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Big Stone 
Plant (dated as of March 1, 1985).  
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  10-F-4   
  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/91   

  10-F-4   —Supplemental Agreement No. 3 to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Big Stone 
Plant (dated as of March 31, 1986).  

                       
  10-F-5   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 9/30/03   

  10.1   —Supplemental Agreement No. 4 to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Big Stone 
Plant (dated as of April 24, 2003).  

                       
  10-F-6   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-F-5   —Amendment I to Letter of Intent dated May 8, 1984, for purchase of share of Big 
Stone Plant.  

                       
  10-G   

  

10-Q for quarter  
ended 06/30/04 

  

  10.3   —Master Coal Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between the Company, Montana-
Dakota Utilities Co., Northwestern Corporation and Kennecott Coal Sales Company-
Big Stone Plant (dated as of June 1, 2004).  

                       
  10-H   

  

2-61043 

  

  5-H   —Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Coyote Station Generating Unit No. 1 by and 
between the Company, Minnkota Power Cooperative, Inc., Montana-Dakota Utilities 
Co., Northwestern Public Service Company and Minnesota Power & Light Company 
(dated as of July 1, 1977).  

                       
  10-H-1   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/89   

  10-H-1   —Supplemental Agreement No. One, dated as of November 30, 1978, to Agreement for 
Sharing Ownership of Coyote Generating Unit No. 1.  

                       
  10-H-2   

  

10-K for year  
ended 12/31/89 

  

  10-H-2   —Supplemental Agreement No. Two, dated as of March 1, 1981, to Agreement for 
Sharing Ownership of Coyote Generating Unit No. 1 and Amendment No. 2 dated 
March 1, 1981, to Coyote Plant Coal Agreement.  

                       
  10-H-3   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/89   

  10-H-3   —Amendment, dated as of July 29, 1983, to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of 
Coyote Generating Unit No. 1.  

                       
  10-H-4   

  

10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92 

  

  10-H-4   —Agreement, dated as of September 5, 1985, containing Amendment No. 3 to 
Agreement for Sharing Ownership of Coyote Generating Unit No.1, dated as of 
July 1, 1977, and Amendment No. 5 to Coyote Plant Coal Agreement, dated as of 
January 1, 1978.  

                       
  10-H-5   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 9/30/01   

  10-A   —Amendment, dated as of June 14, 2001, to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of 
Coyote Generating Unit No. 1.  

                       
  10-H-6   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 9/30/03   

  10.2   —Amendment, dated as of April 24, 2003, to Agreement for Sharing Ownership of 
Coyote Generating Unit No. 1.  

                       
  10-I   

  

2-63744 

  

  5-I   —Coyote Plant Coal Agreement by and between the Company, Minnkota Power 
Cooperative, Inc., Montana-Dakota Utilities Co., Northwestern Public Service 
Company, Minnesota Power & Light Company, and Knife River Coal Mining 
Company (dated as of January 1, 1978).  

                       
  10-I-1   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-I-1   —Addendum, dated as of March 10, 1980, to Coyote Plant Coal Agreement.  

                       
  10-I-2   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-I-2   —Amendment (No. 3), dated as of May 28, 1980, to Coyote Plant Coal Agreement.  

                       
  10-I-3   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/92   

  10-I-3   —Fourth Amendment, dated as of August 19, 1985, to Coyote Plant Coal Agreement.  
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  10-I-4   
  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 6/30/93   

  19-A   —Sixth Amendment, dated as of February 17, 1993, to Coyote Plant Coal Agreement.  

  
  10-I-5   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/01   

  10-I-5   —Agreement and Consent to Assignment of the Coyote Plant Coal Agreement.  

                       
  10-J-1   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 9/30/99   

  10   —Power Sales Agreement between the Company and Manitoba Hydro Electric Board 
(dated as of July 1, 1999).  

                       
  10-K   

  

10-K for year  
ended 12/31/91 

  

  10-L   —Integrated Transmission Agreement by and between the Company, Missouri Basin 
Municipal Power Agency and Western Minnesota Municipal Power Agency (dated 
as of March 31, 1986).  

                       
  10-K-1   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/88   

  10-L-1   —Amendment No. 1, dated as of December 28, 1988, to Integrated Transmission 
Agreement (dated as of March 31, 1986).  

                       
  10-L   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 06/30/04   

  10.1   —Master Coal Purchase Agreement by and between the Company and Kennecott Coal 
Sales Company — Hoot Lake Plant (dated as of December 31, 2001).  

                       
  10-M   

  
8-K filed 7/01/09 

  
  10.1   —Standstill Agreement, dated July 1, 2009, by and between the Registrant and Cascade 

Investment, L.L.C.  
                       
  10-N-1   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/02   

  10-N-1   —Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, as amended*  

                       
  10-N-2     8-K filed 02/04/05     10.1   —Executive Survivor and Supplemental Retirement Plan (2005 Restatement).*  
                       
  10-N-2a   

  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/06   

  10-N-2a   —First Amendment of Executive Survivor and Supplemental Retirement Plan (2005 
Restatement).*  

  10-N-3   
  
10-K for year  
ended 12/31/93   

  10-N-5   —Nonqualified Profit Sharing Plan.*  

                       
  10-N-4   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 3/31/02   

  10-B   —Nonqualified Retirement Savings Plan, as amended.*  

                       
  10-N-5     8-K filed 4/13/06     10.3   —1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, As Amended (2006).  
                       
  10-N-6     8-K filed 4/13/06     10.4   —1999 Stock Incentive Plan, As Amended (2006).  
                       
  10-N-7   

  
10-K for year ended 
12/31/05   

  10-N-7   —Form of Stock Option Agreement*  

                       
  10-N-8   

  
10-K for year ended 
12/31/05   

  10-N-8   —Form of Restricted Stock Agreement*  

                       
  10-N-9     8-K filed 4/13/06     10.2   —Form of 2006 Performance Award Agreement.*  
                       
  10-N-10     8-K filed 04/15/05     10.2   —Executive Annual Incentive Plan (Effective April 1, 2005).*  
                       
  10-N-11   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 6/30/06   

  10.5   —Form of 2006 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.*  

                       
  10-N-12     8-K filed 4/13/06     10.1   —Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Directors.  
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Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K, copies of certain instruments defining the rights of holders of certain long-term debt of the 
Company are not filed, and in lieu thereof, the Company agrees to furnish copies thereof to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon 
request.  
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  10-O-1   
  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 6/30/02   

  10-A   —Executive Employment Agreement, John Erickson.*  

  
  10-O-2   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 6/30/02   

  10-B   —Executive Employment Agreement and amendment no. 1, Lauris Molbert.*  

                       
  10-O-3   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 6/30/02   

  10-C   —Executive Employment Agreement, Kevin Moug.*  

                       
  10-O-4   

  
10-Q for quarter  
ended 6/30/02   

  10-D   —Executive Employment Agreement, George Koeck.*  

                       
  10-P-1     8-K filed 11/2/07     10.1   —Change in Control Severance Agreement, John Erickson.*  
                       
  10-P-2     8-K filed 11/2/07     10.2   —Change in Control Severance Agreement, Lauris Molbert.*  
                       
  10-P-3     8-K filed 11/2/07     10.3   —Change in Control Severance Agreement, Kevin Moug.*  
                       
  10-P-4     8-K filed 11/2/07     10.4   —Change in Control Severance Agreement, George Koeck.*  
                       
  12.1               —Calculation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividends.  
                       
  21-A               —Subsidiaries of Registrant.  
                       
  23-A               —Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.  
                       
  24-A               —Powers of Attorney.  
                       
  31.1   

  
  

  
      —Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.  
                       
  31.2   

  
  

  
      —Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.  
                       
  32.1   

  
  

  
      —Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.  
                       
  32.2   

  
  

  
      —Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.  

  

*   Management contract of compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K. 
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:  

Signature and Title  
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  OTTER TAIL CORPORATION  

    

  By /s/ Kevin G. Moug     
  Kevin G. Moug    

  Chief Financial Officer  
Dated: February 26, 2010    

  

      
John D. Erickson  

President and Chief Executive Officer  
(principal executive officer) and Director  
 

Kevin G. Moug  
Chief Financial Officer  
(principal financial and accounting officer)  
 

John C. MacFarlane  
Chairman of the Board and Director  
 

Karen M. Bohn, Director  
 
Arvid R. Liebe, Director  
 
Edward J. McIntyre, Director  
 
Joyce Nelson Schuette, Director  
 
Nathan I. Partain, Director  
 
Gary J. Spies, Director  
 
James B. Stake, Director  
   

)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
)  
) 

          
          
          
          
          
          
      
  By   /s/ John D. Erickson     
      John D. Erickson    

      
Pro Se and Attorney-in-Fact  
Dated February 26, 2010    
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Exhibit Number   Description 

  12.1     Calculation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividends  
           
  21-A     Subsidiaries of the Registrant  
           
  23-A     Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
           
  24-A     Power of Attorney  
           
  31.1     Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
           
  31.2     Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
           
  32.1     Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
           
  32.2     Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
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Exhibit 12.1 

OTTER TAIL CORPORATION  
CALCULATION OF RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED DIVIDENDS  

                                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2006     2007     2008     2009   
  

Earnings                                          
Pretax income from continuing operations    $ 81,912,596     $ 77,855,302     $ 81,928,914     $ 50,161,916     $ 21,425,878   
Plus fixed charges (see below)      24,615,267       26,458,342       32,389,334       36,082,847       36,304,519   

  

Total earnings (1)    $ 106,527,863     $ 104,313,644     $ 114,318,248     $ 86,244,763     $ 57,730,397   
  

Fixed Charges                                          
Interest charges    $ 17,637,279     $ 18,789,945     $ 22,384,136     $ 28,094,844     $ 27,622,443   
Amortization of debt expense, premium and 

discount      1,010,988       945,397       1,138,198       1,020,003       2,127,076   
Estimated interest component of operating leases      5,967,000       6,723,000       8,867,000       6,968,000       6,555,000   

  

Total fixed charges (2)    $ 24,615,267     $ 26,458,342     $ 32,389,334     $ 36,082,847     $ 36,304,519   
  

Preferred Dividend Requirement    $ 1,044,009     $ 1,043,125     $ 1,033,385     $ 981,547     $ 633,832   
  

Total Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividend 
Requirement (3)    $ 25,659,276     $ 27,501,467     $ 33,422,719     $ 37,064,394     $ 36,938,351   

  

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges  
(1) Divided by (2)      4.33       3.94       3.53       2.39       1.59   

  

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred 
Dividends (1) Divided by (3)      4.15       3.79       3.42       2.33       1.56   
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OTTER TAIL CORPORATION  

Subsidiaries of the Registrant  
February 26, 2010  

*     Inactive  

   

      
Company State of Organization 
Otter Tail Power Company    Minnesota 
Otter Tail Energy Services Company, Inc.    Minnesota 
Overland Mechanical Services, Inc.    Minnesota 
Green Hills Energy, LLC    Minnesota 
Sheridan Ridge I, LLC    Minnesota 
Sheridan Ridge II, LLC    Minnesota 
Otter Tail Assurance Limited    Cayman Islands 
Varistar Corporation    Minnesota 
Northern Pipe Products, Inc.    North Dakota 
Vinyltech Corporation    Arizona 
T.O. Plastics, Inc.    Minnesota 
DMI Industries, Inc.    North Dakota 
DMI Canada, Inc.    Ontario, Canada 
DMI Equipment, LLC    Delaware 
BTD Manufacturing, Inc.    Minnesota 
Miller Welding & Iron Works, Inc.    Minnesota 
ShoreMaster, Inc.    Minnesota 
Galva Foam Marine Industries, Inc.    Missouri 
Shoreline Industries, Inc.    Minnesota 
Aviva Sports, Inc.    Minnesota 
ShoreMaster Costa Rica, Limitada    Costa Rica 
DMS Health Technologies, Inc.    North Dakota 
DMS Imaging, Inc.    North Dakota 
DMS Health Technologies – Canada, Inc.    North Dakota 
DMS Leasing Corporation*    North Dakota 
Aevenia, Inc.    Minnesota 
Moorhead Electric, Inc.    Minnesota 
Foley Company    Missouri 
E. W. Wylie Corporation    North Dakota 
Idaho Pacific Holdings, Inc.    Delaware 
Idaho-Pacific Corporation    Idaho 
Idaho-Pacific Colorado Corporation    Delaware 
AWI Acquisition Company Limited    Prince Edward Island, Canada 
AgraWest Investments Limited    Prince Edward Island, Canada 
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Exhibit 23-A 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-155747-99 and 333-159137-99 on Form S-3 and 333-25261-
99, 333-73041-99, 333-73075-99 and 333-136841-99 on Form S-8 of our report dated February 26, 2010 relating to the consolidated financial 
statements of Otter Tail Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting, which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009.  

   

          
      
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP       
        
Minneapolis, Minnesota      
February 26, 2010      
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Exhibit 24-A 

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints JOHN D. 
ERICKSON, LAURIS N. MOLBERT, KEVIN G. MOUG and GEORGE A. KOECK, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-
in-fact and agents, each acting alone, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, 
in any and all capacities, to sign the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Otter Tail Corporation for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, and 
any and all amendments to said Annual Report, and to deliver on my behalf said Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, as each 
thereof is so signed, for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing 
requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully as to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, 
hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their or his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to 
be done by virtue hereof.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Power of Attorney has been signed on the 9 th day of February, 2010 by the following persons: 
 

   

          

  

      
/s/ Karen M. Bohn    /s/ John D. Erickson 
   

  
  

Karen M. Bohn    John D. Erickson 
       
/s/ Arvid R. Liebe    /s/ John C. MacFarlane 
   

  
  

Arvid R. Liebe    John C. MacFarlane 
       
/s/ Edward J. McIntyre    /s/ Kevin G. Moug 
   

  
  

Edward J. McIntyre    Kevin G. Moug 
       
/s/ Nathan I. Partain    /s/ Joyce Nelson Schuette 
   

  
  

Nathan I. Partain    Joyce Nelson Schuette 
       
/s/ Gary J. Spies    /s/ James B. Stake 
   

  
  

Gary J. Spies    James B. Stake 
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, John D. Erickson, certify that:  

     1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Otter Tail Corporation;  

     2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

     3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

     4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

     (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

     (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

     (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and  

     (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

     5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

     (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

     (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: February 26, 2010  

   

          
/s/ John D. Erickson       
John D. Erickson      
President and Chief Executive Officer      
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Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Kevin G. Moug, certify that:  

     1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Otter Tail Corporation;  

     2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

     3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

     4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

     (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

     (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

     (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and  

     (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

     5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

     (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

     (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: February 26, 2010  

   

          

          
/s/ Kevin G. Moug       
Kevin G. Moug      
Chief Financial Officer      
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Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of Otter Tail Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2009 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John D. Erickson, President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
that:  

   

          

  1.   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
  

  2.   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

          
      
  /s/ John D. Erickson     
  John D. Erickson    

President and Chief Executive Officer  
February 26, 2010     

WPD-6 
Screening Data Part 2 of 2 
Page 357 of 7002



Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of Otter Tail Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2009 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin G. Moug, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

   

          

  1.   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
  

  2.   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

          
      
  /s/ Kevin G. Moug     
  Kevin G. Moug    

Chief Financial Officer  
February 26, 2010     
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